



Department of Environment, Land and Infrastructure Engineering Master of Science in Petroleum Engineering

# The Relationship Between Crude Oil Prices and Renewable Energy

Seyed Ahmad Aldaghi

Supervisors:

Prof. Peter Molnar

Prof. Gian Andrea Blengini

(University of Stavanger)

(Politecnico di Torino)

Co-Supervisor: Dr. Niaz Bashiri Behmiri

(University of Stavanger)

## Abstract

Today's most used energy sources are Crude Oil, Gas, and Coal, which are the main reason for increasing  $CO_2$  and pollution in the atmosphere. In recent years, Climate change, Environment, Energy Security Issues, and the development of new technologies caused an enhanced focus on emissions and clean energy usage. These issues have been addressed through various international agreements, and different countries are putting some obligations on their industry to reduce the emission of greenhouse gasses.

In order to decrease the dependency on fossil energies, investment and study on Renewable Energies have increased during the last years. Due to this continuous increase in using renewable energies, understanding their performance's effective parameters is very important. We expect that the Price of Crude Oil as one of the primary sources of energy and competitor of Clean Energies in different industries like transportation fuels, electricity, etc., has a significant influence on various aspects of Renewable Energies.

This thesis aims to analyse the relationship between renewable energy stocks and the price of crude oil. In order to determine this relationship, I used a time-series approaches Vector Autoregressive Model (VAR), Vector Error Correction Model (VECM), and Structural Vector Autoregressive Model (SVAR). Besides, by conducting Impulse Response Test, I can analyse Renewable Energies Stocks' response to the different positive and negative oil price shocks and investigate whether these responses are asymmetric or symmetric. In the end, by comparing these models in two periods before the Covid-19 pandemic and post-pandemic, I looked at the effect of the global pandemic and the financial crisis caused by it on the relationship of oil price and renewable energies sectors.

Sub-sectors of renewable energy are almost unaffected by shocks in Oil Prices. The results of my analysis indicate that the Global Covid-19 Pandemic has changed the underconsideration relationships. Furthermore, based on my findings, Crude oil is a net receiver of shocks from renewable energies. Also, the shock in Crude Oil Prices will mainly affect the Biofuel Index and its effect on other assets is not significant or dies out soon.

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all the people who supported me in this way, people who

shared their time and valuable ideas.

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisors, Professor Peter Molnar and Professor Gian Andrea Blengini, for their continuous guiding and advising me during these past months, especially their kind support during quarantine.

*Their extreme patience to review and correct this work played a significant role to advance this thesis.* 

Thank you to Doctor Niaz Bashiri Behmiri for her

kind full help which inspired me to do this thesis. She has been a precious source of ideas to me.

Finally, many thanks to my friends, namely Karim, Reza, Farbod, Amirreza, Tarlan, and Amin for sending their positive vibes 24/7, and their unconditional support.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract1
1) Introduction
2) Former Researches14
3) Statistical Theories and Methods
3.1 Vector Autoregression17
3.1.1 Requirements of the VAR model18
3.1.2 Stationarity
3.1.3 Stationarity Test
3.1.4 VAR Lag Length Selection
3.1.5 Cointegration23
3.1.6 Autocorrelation25
3.1.7 Stability Test27
3.1.8 Impulse Response Function27
3.2 Vector Error Correction Model
<ul> <li>3.2 Vector Error Correction Model</li></ul>
4) Data Material
<ul> <li>4) Data Material</li></ul>
<ul> <li>4) Data Material</li></ul>
<ul> <li>4) Data Material</li></ul>
4) Data Material304.1 Renewable Energies304.1.1 Alternative Energies304.1.2 Biofuels314.1.3 Solar Energy31
4) Data Material304.1 Renewable Energies304.1.1 Alternative Energies304.1.2 Biofuels314.1.3 Solar Energy314.1.4 Wind Energy31
4) Data Material       30         4.1 Renewable Energies       30         4.1.1 Alternative Energies       30         4.1.2 Biofuels       31         4.1.3 Solar Energy       31         4.1.4 Wind Energy       31         4.2 Crude Oil       32
4) Data Material304.1 Renewable Energies304.1.1 Alternative Energies304.1.2 Biofuels314.1.3 Solar Energy314.1.4 Wind Energy314.2 Crude Oil324.3 Descriptive Statistics of Data Sample34
4) Data Material304.1 Renewable Energies304.1.1 Alternative Energies304.1.2 Biofuels314.1.3 Solar Energy314.1.4 Wind Energy314.2 Crude Oil324.3 Descriptive Statistics of Data Sample345) Statistical Validity of my Models35

5.4 Stability	45
5.5 Granger Causality & Impulse Response Functions	47
5.5.1 Results of Granger Causality Test	47
5.5.2 Results of Impulse Response Functions	48
6) Discussion & Conclusion	53
6.1 Discussion	53
6.2 Conclusion	57
References	58
Appendix	63
Appendix 1: Lag Length Detection	63
First Period:	63
Second Period	65
Appendix 2: Cointegration Test Result	66
First Period	66
Second Period	70

# List of Tables

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics of The Data during the First Period, 2009-2019
Table 2: Descriptive Statistics of The Data during the Second Period, 2020-2021
Table 3: Augmented Dickey Fuller test on level for Oil Price, the left one is for period 2009-
2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021
Table 4: Augmented Dickey Fuller test on level for NEX Index, the left one is for period 2009-
2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021
Table 5: Augmented Dickey Fuller test on level for Biofuel Index, the left one is for period
2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021
Table 6: Augmented Dickey Fuller test on level for Solar Index, the left one is for period 2009-
2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021
Table 7: Augmented Dickey Fuller test on level for Wind Index, the left one is for period 2009-
2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021
Table 8: Augmented dickey fuller test on Differenced Oil Price, the left one is for period 2009-
2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021
Table 9: Augmented dickey fuller test on Differenced NEX Index, the left one is for period
2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021
Table 10: Augmented dickey fuller test on Differenced of Biofuel Index, the left one is for
period 2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021
Table 11: Augmented dickey fuller test on Differenced of Solar Index, the left one is for period
2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-202140
Table 12: Augmented dickey fuller test on Differenced of Wind Index, the left one is for period
2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021
Table 13: Optimal Number of lags, the left table for period 2009-2019 and the right one for
period 2020-2021
Table 14: The LM test results for autocorrelation NEX Index and Oil Price, the left table is for
period 2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-202143
Table 15: The LM test results for autocorrelation Biofuel Index and Oil Price, the left table is
for period 2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021
Table 16: The LM test results for autocorrelation Solar Index and Oil Price, the left table is for
period 2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-202144
Table 17: The LM test results for autocorrelation Wind Index and Oil Price, the left table is for
period 2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021

Table 18: Granger Causality test result for NEX Index-Oil Price Model, the left figure is for
period 2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021
Table 19: Granger Causality test result for Biofuel Index-Oil Price Model, for period 2020-
2021
Table 20: Granger Causality test result for Solar Index-Oil Price Model, for period 2009-2019
Table 21: Granger Causality test result for Wind Index-Oil Price Model the left figure is for
period 2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021
Table 22: Lag Length of NEX Index - Crude Oil Prices Model
Table 23: Lag Length of Biofuel Index - Crude Oil Prices Model
Table 24:Lag Length of Solar Index - Crude Oil Prices Model
Table 25: Lag Length of Wind Index - Crude Oil Prices Model
Table 26: Lag Length of NEX Index - Crude Oil Prices Model, Second Period65
Table 27: Lag Length of Biofuel Index - Crude Oil Prices Model, Second Period65
Table 28: Lag Length of Solar Index - Crude Oil Prices Model, Second Period65
Table 29: Lag Length of Wind Index - Crude Oil Prices Model, Second Period65
Table 30: Johansen's Test for NEX Index - Crude Oil Prices Model
Table 31: Johansen's Test for Biofuel Index - Crude Oil Prices Model
Table 32: Johansen's Test for Solar Index - Crude Oil Prices Model
Table 33: Johansen's Test for Wind Index - Crude Oil Prices Model
Table 34: Johansen's Test for NEX Index - Crude Oil Prices Model, Second Period70
Table 35: Johansen's Test for Biofuel Index - Crude Oil Prices Model, Second Period71
Table 36: Johansen's Test for Solar Index - Crude Oil Prices Model, Second Period72
Table 37: Johansen's Test for Wind Index - Crude Oil Prices Model, Second Period73

# List of Figures

Figure 1: The Global Annual Energy Consumption Change [Left], and The Global Annual CO2
Emissions Change from Energy Use [Right]9
Figure 2: The Annual Change in Global Crude Oil Demand10
Figure 3: The Actual and Predicted Growth in Global Energy Demand10
Figure 4: Annual Investment on Development of Renewable Energies11
Figure 5: Comparison of Annual Subsidies on the Sub-Sectors of Energy11
Figure 6: Outlook of Global Energy Sources12
Figure 7: Graphical Comparison of Random Walk and Stationary Time Series19
Figure 8: No Autocorrelation25
Figure 9: Positive Autocorrelation
Figure 10: Negative Autocorrelation
Figure 11: The Benchmark which is used in different countries
Figure 12: Annual WTI and Brent crude oil price
Figure 13: Natural Logarithm of Data during the first period, 2009-201935
Figure 14: Natural Logarithm of Data during the second period, 2020-202135
Figure 15: Natural Logarithm of Oil Price during first period41
Figure 16: First differenced of Oil Price during first period41
Figure 17: Stability test of NEX Index- Oil Price model, the left figure is for period 2009-2019
and the right one for period 2020-202145
Figure 18: Stability test of Biofuel Index- Oil Price model, the left figure is for period 2009-
2019 and the right one for period 2020-202145
Figure 19: Stability test of Solar Index- Oil Price model, the left figure is for period 2009-2019
and the right one for period 2020-202146
Figure 20: Stability test of Wind Index- Oil Price model, the left figure is for period 2009-2019
and the right one for period 2020-202146
Figure 21: The IRF results for NEX Index - Crude Oil Price Model during the first period49
Figure 22: The IRF results for NEX Index - Crude Oil Price Model during the second period
Figure 23: The IRF results for Biofuel Index - Crude Oil Price Model during the first period
Figure 24: The IRF results for Biofuel Index - Crude Oil Price Model during the second period

Figure 25: The IRF results for Solar Index - Crude Oil Price Model during the first period5
Figure 26: The IRF results for Solar Index - Crude Oil Price Model during the second perio
5
Figure 27: The IRF results for Wind Index - Crude Oil Price Model during the first period5
Figure 28: The IRF results for Wind Index - Crude Oil Price Model during the second perio
5
Figure 29: Annual share of different sources in Electricity Production5
Figure 30: Planned share of Renewable Energies in future of Energy Production5
Figure 31: Global annual production of Biofuels5
Figure 32: Global Bioenergy use for heating5
Figure 33: Global GDP Growth Percentage5

# 1) Introduction

Continuous GDP growth and worldwide expansion of economies have raised the energy demand; Thus, fossil fuels (e.g., coal, natural gas, oil) as the primary sources of energy experienced a high demand period in the last decade. These non-renewable sources, which provide 80% of the world's energy supply, are one of the leading causes of greenhouse gas emissions. An enhanced concern related to CO2 emissions that jeopardized the sustainability of ecosystems, renewable energy production and consumption has experienced rapid growth, especially after the establishment of the Kyoto Protocol and also the European Union Emissions Trading System (EU-ETS). According to the limitation and goals defined in these agreements, the energy transition plans of the countries are proceeding faster; for example, in the United States of America, the consumption of renewable energy sources has increased by 12% in 2020; and during 2020 in comparison with 2019, the production capacity of renewable energies increased for 50%.

During the COVID-19 global pandemic, the world energy consumption dropped dramatically and put ahead the 30 years emission reduction projects for 2.5 years. But it was temporary, and soon the increasing consumption trend will be back; Therefore, reducing energy consumption is not the solution. Transition to clean (or renewable) energy has become the heart of focus to solve the problems of energy scarcity and climate change. That's why the policymakers and investors shifted their attention towards the development of renewable energies.



#### CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from energy use

Figure 1: The Global Annual Energy Consumption Change [Left], and The Global Annual CO2 Emissions Change from Energy Use [Right] (Source: BP – Statistical Review of World Energy 2021)



Growth in oil demand

(Source:BP – Statistical Review of World Energy 2021)



Energy demand growth in 2020



Figures 1, and 2 show the dramatic changes in energy demand and consumption because of the Covid-19 pandemic during 2020. From figure 1, we can understand that world energy demand has fallen by 4.5%, and as a consequence, global carbon emissions decreased 6.3% compared to 2019. The expected growth in energy demand is shown in figure 3; as shown in this figure, almost in all sub-sectors of the energy, the reduction in the demand is more than expected.

The reduction in oil demand (Figure 2) caused a decline in crude oil price. The price of WTI oil decreased by approximately 20% in the two months following the start of the COVID-19 epidemic in Wuhan city. It can be a motivation for policy-makers and investors to promote the development of renewable energy sectors. Figure 4 reveals the increment of global investment in renewable energies for different countries. As it can be interpreted from the chart,



the annual investment has an upward trend, and total investment in 2020 was 2% higher than in 2019.

By promoting subsidies, policymakers can influence the development of renewable energies. Figure 5 shows the subsidies on different sub-sectors of energy by governments. According to this chart, the policymakers' mid-term and long-term plan is to increase the subsidies on alternative energies and simultaneously decrease it for fossil energy; in this way, people have more desire to use clean energies instead of non-renewable energies. By applying these policies, governments try to reach their long-term goal of making Renewable energies the main source of energy by 2050 (Figure 6).



Figure 5: Comparison of Annual Subsidies on the Sub-Sectors of Energy (Source: International Renewable Energy Agency – IRENA 2020)



(Source: U.S. Energy Information Administration, International Energy Outlook 2019)

The renewable energy sector has been snowballing to become one of the most active segments of the energy industry. Worldwide, many countries have invested in renewable energy sources (Bhattacharya et al., 2016), and global use of renewables is also anticipated to expand rapidly in the coming years. According to the International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA) projections, it is estimated that renewable energy sources may constitute at least 60 percent of several countries' total final energy consumption by 2050. For instance, In the European Union (EU), the share could expand from around 17 percent to above 70 percent.

The question that comes to mind is, how Crude Oil and Renewable Energies stocks can be related?

Even though governments can influence renewable energies development through strategies and policy regulations, the renewable energy stock market cannot be assumed isolated from the fossil energy market. In other words, the fluctuations of each market probably affect the other one, especially it will affect the amount of investment on them and their returns in capital markets.

By considering the energy market structure and energy demand, it can be understood that there is a substitution relationship between fossil energy and renewable energy. For example, when the crude oil prices rise, its demand decreases, and the investors spend more money on developing the renewable energy sector, which increases the stock prices of renewable energy companies. On the other hand, if the price of developing renewable energy is high, it will increase the demand for crude oil and investment.

In general, we would expect to see a negative relationship between fossil energy prices and renewable energy stock prices. Given the strategic importance of crude oil in the international energy market, existing studies focus on analysing how much global oil price changes, as a representative of fossil energy prices, influence the returns of renewable energy stocks. The conclusions are, however, still inconsistent. Oil price movements are the most crucial factor in defining renewable energy stocks prices and the return opportunities of renewable energy companies (Reboredo, 2015). Higher oil prices particularly encourage policymakers and investors to promote energy transition, which affects renewable energy companies' rentability (Kumar et al., 2012). Therefore, understanding the interactions between the two primary energy sources is vital for both investors and policymakers to support the transition process from fossil energy to clean energy simultaneously by increasing their profit. For this reason, exploring the impacts of oil prices on the renewable energy sector is of great interest to economists.

During past decades enhanced focus on Clean Energies, motivated researchers in Energy Economics and Market to study the characteristics of this fast-growing sector. Therefore, a number of studies have been published which the broad objective of them is to understand the effect of crude oil prices movement and its shock on investment in the renewable energy sector and also the stock prices of this sector (i.e., Henriques and Sadorsky, 2008, Kumar et al., 2012, Sadorsky, 2012, Managi and Okimoto, 2013, Reboredo et al., 2017, and more recently Ike et al. (2020) and Murshed and Tanha (2020)).

In this thesis, by using econometric techniques of former researches, I will study the effect of shocks in crude oil prices on different sub-sectors of renewable energy to understand whether this effect is similar in every sub-sector or not. Furthers, by comparing the relationship between oil prices and renewable energy sectors prices in two periods of Jan 2009 to Dec 2019 and Jun 2020 to Sep 2021, I will show the influence of the Covid-19 pandemic on this relationship. It should be mentioned that since the pandemic is not completely finished and the data sample is small, my finding may change in the future, but I will analyze my results to the best of my knowledge.

In the second chapter, I provided a summary of the previous research related to my thesis topic. Chapter 3 explains the methods and models I used, and chapter 4 is about the data and indices I chose. The statistical results of my models are shown in chapter 5, and finally, chapter 6 is the conclusion of my analysis.

# 2) Former Researches

According to the rapid growth of renewable energy consumption and production, researchers have employed several econometric methods to analyse the interdependence between this sector and other financial market sectors. In recent years, because of the great importance of the Oil & Gas industry as the most prominent energy sector, various research has used a wide array of methodologies to investigate the relationship between crude oil prices and renewable energies. In this section, I will provide a summary of the findings of these researches.

Henriques and Sadorsky (2008) first started to study this relationship by using a fourvariable VAR model to understand the dynamic relationships between alternative energy stock prices, technology stock prices, oil prices, and interest rates. They found that even though both technology stock prices and oil prices affect alternative energy stock prices, the influence of a shock in the stock price of technology on alternative energy stocks is much more significant than the shocks of oil prices. Trück & Inchaupse (2008), used a dynamic multi-factor setting based on a state-space model with time-varying coefficients to extend the research of Henriques & Sadorsky (2007). Their result shows that sharp increases in oil have little influence on investments in renewable energy markets and that the Wilderhill New Energy index seems to be more influenced by the Standard & Poor's 500 Index and technology stocks than the crude oil price.

Kumar and Managi (2012) also believed that investors consider the clean energy and technology companies as similar assets, like Henriques and Sadorsky. But, by using a VAR framework to explore the relationship between clean energy stock prices, the stock prices of technology companies, oil prices and prices for carbon allowances, they showed that increasing oil prices have a significant positive impact on clean energy stock prices. At the same time, Broadstock et al. (2012) explored the effect of international oil prices on Chinese energy-related stock price returns. They used time-varying conditional correlation and asset pricing models. They studied the response of three sub-indices for fossil fuels, electricity, and the new energy sector, to international oil price shocks and reported that after the global financial crisis in 2008, the oil price changes is a significant factor in energy-related stock price movements.

Managi and Okimoto (2013) supported the findings of Henriques and Sadorsky (2008) and Kumar et al. (2012) about the similarity of clean energy stock prices and technology stock prices. Based on the model used by Henriques and Sadorsky (2008) and their parameters, Managi and Okimoto considered a Markov-switching model in order to explore possible

structural effects among oil prices, technology stock prices, and clean energy stock prices. Their findings exhibit a positive relationship between oil prices and clean energy prices after the structural change in the market in late 2007.

Roberdo, in his first paper, 2015, used copulas to study the structural dependency between the oil and renewable energy market and estimated the conditional Value-at-Risk (Co-Var). He stated that oil prices have a time-varying and symmetric tail dependence with renewable energy indices, and its movements contribute around 30% to the fluctuations of the risk in renewable energy companies. Two years later, Reboredo et al. (2017), using continuous and discrete wavelets and linear and non-linear Granger Causality tests, studied the causal link between oil prices and renewable energy returns for the data from 2006 to 2015. Their result indicates that the dependency between two variables is more potent in the long term. Furthermore, they found a non-linear causality running from renewable energy indices to oil prices, but the causality in the opposite way depends on the size of the time scale and is not fixed.

Kyritsis and Serletis (2017) explored the influences of both oil price shocks, and the uncertainty about crude prices, on the stock returns of renewable energy and technology firms. They found that the effect of oil price uncertainty, stock returns of renewable energy and technology firms, is insignificant and shock in oil price is not influential on stock returns.

Ahmad et al. (2018) studied the optimal hedging ratios between clean energy equities and various other financial instruments such as oil, bonds, gold, VIX, and carbon prices. For estimating the time-varying optimal hedge ratios, they applied three different kinds of multivariate GARCH models (DCC, ADCC and GO-GARCH). The results suggest that crude oil after the VIX is the best asset to hedge clean energy equities.

Imran Hussain Shah et al. (2018) studied the relationship between renewable energy investment and oil prices for 3 countries with different strategies in Oil & Gas industry (Norway and the UK being oil-exporters, and the USA as an importer). Using VAR model, they found that a shock in oil price strongly explains the investment and movements of the renewable energy sector. Most recently, Murshed and Tanha (2020) and Ike et al. (2020) tried to find evidence of this relationship in different countries. Murshed and Tanha (2020) studied the non-linear link between renewable energy consumption and crude oil prices for four net oil-importing countries in South Asia (Bangladesh, India, Pakistan and Sri Lanka) over the period 1990–2018. They found that only when the crude oil prices are higher than an expected threshold of 135 \$ per barrel, renewable energy consumption will be accelerated. Similarly,

Ike et al. (2020) used data on G-7 countries and found a one-way causality from renewable energies to oil prices.

While most of the above studies provided important insight into the oil-clean energy stocks relationship, their primary focus has been on this relationship at the aggregate level. The use of aggregate stock indices makes it challenging to analyze the responses to oil prices from various sub-sectors within the clean energy sector. In this thesis, I tried to provide a better vision in this field by considering different indices for sub-sectors of renewable energies.

# 3) Statistical Theories and Methods

In order to quantify economic relationships accurately, certain features of the data should be examined. Understanding these characteristics helps us in model-building. In this chapter, the basic information and knowledge required to clarify the model and conclusion have been provided.

### 3.1 Vector Autoregression

Since Christopher A. Sims (1980) developed the concept of Vector Autoregressive models (VAR), this approach is known as a relatively simple and effective way to quantify connection in the time series data. All the variables included in the VAR model are assumed to be jointly endogenous; the VAR model gives a multivariate approach that explains all of these variables by their previous values and the lagged value of all other variables.

The simplest VAR model is Bivariate Vector Autoregression. This model only consists of two variables  $y_{1t}$  and  $y_{2t}$ . Thus, in a Bivariate VAR of order P (VAR(p)), each variable depends on its lagged value and the lagged values of other component up to P periods and error terms. The mathematical explanation of this model is:

$$y_{1t} = \beta_{10} + \beta_{11}y_{1t-1} \dots + \beta_{1p}y_{1t-p} + \alpha_{11}y_{2t-1} \dots + \alpha_{1p}y_{2t-p} + u_{1t}$$
  
$$y_{2t} = \beta_{20} + \beta_{21}y_{2t-1} \dots + \beta_{2p}y_{2t-p} + \alpha_{21}y_{1t-1} \dots + \alpha_{2p}y_{1t-p} + u_{2t}$$

One of the advantages of VAR modeling is "Flexibility", as we can understand from the equations, the model can be extended to a multivariant model, which instead of having only two variables in the system, we can have any number of components which is necessary for our model. Each of these variables has an equation and they affect each other. For ease of explanation, I describe the Bivariate VAR of the first order (VAR (1)), so each variable depends only upon the immediately previous values of  $y_{1t}$  and  $y_{2t}$ :

$$y_{1t} = \beta_{10} + \beta_{11}y_{1t-1} + \alpha_{11}y_{2t-1} + u_{1t}$$
  
$$y_{2t} = \beta_{20} + \beta_{21}y_{2t-1} + \alpha_{21}y_{1t-1} + u_{2t}$$

We can write these equations in another form by putting the terms into matrices and vectors:

$$\begin{pmatrix} y_{1t} \\ y_{2t} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \beta_{10} \\ \beta_{20} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \beta_{11} & \alpha_{11} \\ \alpha_{21} & \beta_{21} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y_{1t-1} \\ y_{2t-1} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} u_{1t} \\ u_{2t} \end{pmatrix}$$

Or

$$y_t = \beta_0 + \beta_1 y_{t-1} + u_t$$

No contemporaneous terms are included in this VAR model; therefore, we can use the Ordinary Least Square method for estimating it.

#### 3.1.1 Requirements of the VAR model

Obtaining trustable and credible results from the VAR is subject to the satisfaction of some statistical properties:

- The expected value of the error term must be zero,  $E(u_t)=0$ .
- Time series in the VAR model must be Stationary.
- No serial correlation.

#### 3.1.2 Stationarity

When discussing modeling a time series process, it is vital to make sure our data are stationary to avoid the problem of spurious regression. Simply, stationarity means statistical properties of the process do not change over time. There are two important forms of stationarity:

#### 3.1.2.1 Strict Stationary

A time series is called strict stationarity or strong-sense stationarity when its joint probability distribution is unaffected by change of time origin. It means that mean and variance of the data are constant during all period. Having these properties, makes time series to fluctuates around its mean with a constant range and has the tendency for returning to its mean value.

#### 3.1.2.2 Weak Stationarity

A weak stationary or covariance stationary process should have:

- Same mean value at all time ( $E(y_t) = \mu$ ),
- Same variance at all time  $(E(y_t \mu)(y_t \mu) = \sigma^2 < \infty)$
- its autocovariance depends only on the time difference between observations  $(E(y_{t_1} - \mu)(y_{t_2} - \mu) = \gamma_{t_2 - t_1} \quad \forall t_1, t_2).$

In the third assumption, autocovariance reveals the dependency of a variable on its previous values. Since the value of autocovariance depends on the unit of measurements, it is more convenient to normalize it by dividing by the variance and obtaining the term autocorrelation, which I used in this thesis.

For our purpose, satisfying the weak stationarity condition is sufficient, so I refer to it as stationarity in this research.

Accomplishing all the stationarity requirements is very uncommon when working with economic time series, especially when they are in their original unit of measurement. These time series that their mean value cannot be regarded as constant and have a time-changing variance are called non-stationary. Non-stationary time series have the tendency to exhibit an unpredictable upward and downward movement, which is known as the Random Walk.

Detecting whether the data are stationary or not is one of the most crucial steps of our analysis because if we treat non-stationary series like stationary ones, the results of our model will be unreliable and spurious. In the case of inappropriate modeling, it is possible that after regressing one non-stationary variable on another one we obtain a high R2 even though they are completely unrelated. This situation is called "Spurious Regression". The solution to this problem is transforming data to become stationary. The method that I used to transform time series from non-stationary to stationary is "Differencing the Data". For this purpose, I determined the order of integration of each time series which makes them stationary.

It is worth mentioning that there is an exception, "Cointegration of two non-stationary time series". Cointegration occurs when two non-stationary time series with the same order of integration follow a similar path during the time, and their combined trend can be stationary. I will discuss the concept of cointegration and its effect on our decision on modeling later.



Figure 7: Graphical Comparison of Random Walk and Stationary Time Series (Source: Investopedia.com)

#### 3.1.3 Stationarity Test

As shown in figure 7, the most basic method for stationarity determination is the graphical analysis of plotted data. This method gives us an expectation from our data. However, conducting a statistical test to reveal the stationarity condition of the data is inevitable.

The necessity of detecting the stationarity condition of data, several statistical tests have been developed as more rigorous approaches. These tests rely on the presence of unit root, which shows our data is non-stationary. In order to obtain a more accurate result, in this research, I used a modification of the initial Dickey-Fuller test, Augmented Dickey-Fuller. This method has higher sensitivity than the normal DF test, which decreases the possibility of the wrong acceptation of the null hypothesis (having unit root) against the alternative hypothesis of stationary time series.

#### 3.1.3.1 Dickey-Fuller Test

This test is the most common unit root test. In practice, the general equation that has been considered for testing the  $Y_t$  as a time series is:

$$d(Y_t) = \delta Y_{t-1} + u_t$$

The null hypothesis H<sub>0</sub>:  $\delta$ =0. If we cannot reject the null hypothesis, we conclude that the time series is non-stationarity. In this case, we should find the order of integration of our series, which is equal to the number of times that the time series must be differenced to become stationary. The order of integration is shown by I(d), which means the time series under consideration will be stationary after being differenced d times.

Before going further through the basic of the test, I should mention that the critical values of the t-statistic for the DF test does not follow the usual t-statistics and is calculated by the Monte Carlo method.

In this test, three equations are used to analyze the time series:

• Random Walk

$$d(Y_t) = \delta Y_{t-1} + u_t$$

• Random Walk with Drift

$$d(Y_t) = \delta Y_{t-1} + c + u_t$$

• Random Walk with Drift and Stochastic Trend

$$d(Y_t) = \delta Y_{t-1} + c + \gamma T + u_t$$

Same as the general equation, the null hypothesis for these equations is  $H_0$ :  $\delta=0$ , which means the variable has a unit root, I(0). The alternative hypothesis  $H_A$ :  $\delta<1$ , which is true if the time series is stationary, I(0). If we cannot reject the null hypothesis, the test must be repeated by different hypothesises,  $(H_0)$ :  $Y_t \sim I(2)$  and  $(H_A)$ :  $Y_t \sim I(1)$ . In this case, if we reject the null hypothesis, our data are integrated of the first order; otherwise, we increase the order of integration for both null and alternative hypothesis until we are able to reject the null hypothesis and find the order of integration which makes the time series stationary.

One assumption of the Dickey-Fuller test is that the error term  $(u_t)$  is White Noise. It means that the error terms are not autocorrelated. If this assumption is not valid for the data, it can lead us to a false rejection of the null hypothesis. The Augmented Dickey-Fuller test (ADF) is the solution to this problem.

#### 3.1.3.2 Augmented Dickey-Fuller test

The test is based on the influence of  $d(Y_{t-k})$  as well as  $Y_{t-1}$  on the prediction of change in  $Y_t$ . Therefore, the term  $d(Y_{t-k})$  is added to the equation of this test to make sure that the error term is not autocorrelated.

$$d(y_t) = c + \gamma T + \delta y_{t-1} + \lambda_1 d(y_{t-1}) + \dots + \lambda_{p-1} d(y_{t-p+1}) + u_t$$

The next step is finding lag length P in order to apply the test. The basic approach for finding P is the examination of t-values for each coefficient, but in this research, I relied on using different information criteria, which will be explained in the following paragraph.

#### 3.1.4 VAR Lag Length Selection

As Konishi & Kitagawa (2008) state, "The majority of the problems in statistical inference can be considered to be problems related to statistical modeling". Since the accuracy of our model depends on using the optimal number of lags in all of the tests, proper Lag Order Selection is critical. Being unable to remove all of the autocorrelations and increment the standard error of coefficients are respectively the result of including too few and too many lags in the model, which makes the results biased and reduces the model's power.

Several information criteria can be used for model selection to determine the lag length of the VAR models, with smaller values of the information criterion being preferred. Each information criteria calculate two terms in order to find the optimal number of lags:

• The first factor is a function of the residual sum of squares.

• The second one applies some penalties for the loss of degrees of freedom from adding an independent variable.

By adding a new variable, the residual sum of squares will decrease but simultaneously, the second factor, penalty, increases. Thus, two factors influence information criteria in two opposite ways after adding a new variable. The difference between information criteria is the method they use to calculate penalty terms and how restrict it is.

According to the rule of thumb (Schwert 1989), the information criteria value will be calculated by  $p_{max} = \left[12 * \left(\frac{T}{100}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}\right]$  for each  $p < p_{max}$  to p = 0. The goal is to find the number of independent variables which minimize this value. In this equation, T is the number of observations, and P is the number of lags.

The most popular information criteria are Akaike's (1994) information criterion (AIC), Schwarz's (1978) Bayesian information criterion (*SBIC*), and the Hannan--Quinn criterion (*HQIC*). Since having a similar number of lags in each equation is beneficial, I used the multivariate versions of these information criteria. Their definition is:

• Multivariate Akaike's Information Criterion:

$$MAIC = \log[\hat{\Sigma}] \frac{2pr}{T}$$

• Multivariate Schwarz's Bayesian Information Criterion:

$$MSBIC = \log[\hat{\Sigma}] + \frac{p}{T} \ln T$$

• Multivariate Hannan—Quinn Information criterion:

$$HQIC = \log[\hat{\Sigma}] + \frac{2p'}{T}\log(\log(T))$$

Here T is the number of observations,  $\hat{\Sigma}$  is the variance-covariance matrix of the residuals, and  $p' = k^2 p + k$  is the total number of regressors in all equations. In this formula, K represents the number of equations, and P is the number of lags.

Normally, all of these criteria will suggest the same number of lags, but a question arises: *Which criterion should be preferred if they suggest different model orders?* To find the solution to this problem, researchers compared these information criteria by various methods. Endres (2005) paid attention to the penalty term and size of the data sample. He stated that MSBIC is more restricted in adding lag than MAIC and is better for large data samples. At the same time, Ivanov & Kilian found out that the time series frequency is an important factor in choosing the preferable information criterion. They declared that for monthly and Quarterly

time series, MAIC and MHQIC would give the best results, respectively. In this thesis, most of the time, all of the information criteria provided the same number of lags, but on the occasion that they were different since I used the monthly data, I relied on Ivanov & Kilian research, MAIC and MHQIC are the chosen criteria.

#### **3.1.5** Cointegration

Two variables are cointegrated if both are integrated of the first order I(1), and there is at least one linear relationship between them that is stationary I(0). The cointegrated variables have a long-term relationship, and both of them exhibit a similar long-run path. Existing cointegration will invalidate the VAR model, and instead of it, the Vector Error Correction Model (VECM) should be used.

The two most used tests for testing the cointegration are Engle-Granger 2-Step test and Johansen's test. According to previous research, since Johansen's test treats all the variables as endogenous and tests the data for more than one cointegration relationship, I used it in this thesis.

#### 3.1.5.1 Cointegration Test: Johansen's Test

This approach was proposed by Søren Johansen (1988) and tests the cointegration between the g number of variables with K lags in a VAR model. The simple formula for this model can be written as:

$$y_t = \beta_1 y_{t-1} + \beta_2 y_{t-2} \dots + \beta_k y_{t-k} + u_t$$

Applying this test necessitates the converting of this VAR model to the VEC model:

In this formula  $\Pi = (\sum_{i=1}^{k} \beta_i) - I_g$  and  $\Gamma_i = (\sum_{j=1}^{i} \beta_j) - I_g$ . All of the g variables in VAR are used in their first differenced form, and the coefficients of the k-1 lags of the dependent variables are shown by  $\Gamma$  matrix.

The purpose of this test is to calculate  $\Pi$  which represents the long-run coefficients of the model. In equilibrium condition, all of the  $\Delta y_{t-i}$  are zero, and the expected value of error term  $u_t$  is zero, thus  $\Pi y_{t-k} = 0$ .

The cointegration between variables will be tested by looking at the rank of  $\Pi$  via its eigenvalues. Determination of the rank of the matrix is according to the number of its eigenvalues (characteristic root), which is not zero.

This approach uses two statistics:

- $\lambda_{\text{trace}}(r) = -T \sum_{i=r+1}^{g} \ln \left(1 \hat{\lambda}_i\right)$
- $\lambda_{max}(r, r+1) = -T \ln \left(1 \hat{\lambda}_{t+1}\right)$

In these formulas, r is the number of cointegrations that are assumed in the null hypothesis; the  $\hat{\lambda}_i$  is the estimated value for the i<sup>th</sup> ordered eigenvalue from the matrix. The larger  $\hat{\lambda}_i$  makes  $\ln(1 - \hat{\lambda}_i)$  more negative. Thus, the test statistic will increase. Each eigenvalue that is significantly different from zero is the sign of the existence of a cointegration vector.

 $\lambda_{\text{trace}}$  is a method to test the null hypothesis, which indicates that the number of cointegration vectors is less than or equal to "r" against the alternative hypothesis that this number is more than "r". While  $\lambda_{max}$  tests the null hypothesis of "r" cointegration vectors against "r+1" vectors as the alternative hypothesis. It should be mentioned that the distribution of the test statistic for these statistics is non-standard, and Johansen and Juselius (1990) provide critical values for them. These critical values depend on the value of "g - r", the number of non-stationary variables, and whether constants are included in each of the equations or not.

Johansen's test process starts by testing H0: r = 0,  $\Pi$  has no rank (no cointegration). If the test statistic is not greater than the critical value, the null hypothesis will be accepted, and the test is complete. In contrast, by rejecting this null hypothesis, another test should be conducted where the null hypothesis is: having one cointegration (H0: r=1). The increment of the "r" value and repeating the test continue until we are unable to reject the null hypothesis, so the rank of  $\Pi$  which indicates the number of cointegration vectors is examined. It should be noted that  $\Pi$  can not be full rank (r=g) because it shows that all the original variables are stationary.

When the rank of  $\Pi$  is zero, it means that there is no cointegration. Therefore,  $\Delta y_t$  depends only on  $\Delta y_{t-i}$  not on  $y_{t-1}$  so that there is no long-run relationship between the elements of  $y_{t-1}$ . In case of  $1 < \operatorname{rank}(\Pi) = r < g$ , there are r cointegration vectors and  $\Pi$  can be defined as:

#### $\Pi = \alpha \beta'$

Where  $\beta$  is the matrix which indicates the cointegrating vectors and  $\alpha$  gives the amount of them in the VEC model. These two are called "adjustment parameters". For example, in my models, which g=2 if there is one cointegration, we can write the like:

$$\Pi = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{11} \\ \alpha_{12} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \beta_{11} & \beta_{12} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \end{pmatrix}_{t-k}$$

Can also be written:

$$\Pi = \binom{\alpha_{11}}{\alpha_{12}} (\beta_{11}y_1 + \beta_{12}y_2)_{t-k}$$

Using this equation, writing the separate equations for each variable of  $\Delta y_t$  will be possible. The normalized equation for  $\Delta y_1$  will be:

$$\alpha_{11}\left(y_1 + \frac{\beta_{12}}{\beta_{11}}y_2\right)_{t-k}$$

#### 3.1.6 Autocorrelation

One of the concerns for dealing with time series is autocorrelation. If the value of the error in one period is related to the value of the error in another period, it means that our regression suffers from autocorrelation.

In order to analyse the residuals to test for autocorrelation, one method is the graphical inspection of residuals. According to the pattern of error terms in each graph, it is possible to understand the existence of autocorrelation and its type.

In case of no autocorrelation: Cov  $(\varepsilon_r, \varepsilon_s) = 0$  or Corr  $(\varepsilon_t, \varepsilon_s) = 0$  for all  $t \neq s$ . Residuals are randomly scattered across the time axis. (Figure 8)



(Source: Brooks, C. (2008). Introductory Econometrics Finance)

Positive Autocorrelation occurs when the value of a residual  $\varepsilon_t$  has the tendency of following the sign of its previous error term,  $\varepsilon_{t-1}$ . On this occasion, the plot of residuals usually is cyclical and doesn't cross the time axis very frequently. (Figure 9) And it will be expressed as: Cor ( $\varepsilon_r$ ,  $\varepsilon_s$ ) > 0 for all  $t \neq s$ .



Figure 9: Positive Autocorrelation (Source: Brooks, C. (2008). Introductory Econometrics Finance)

On the other hand, if a time series suffer from negative autocorrelation, an error of a given sign,  $\varepsilon_{t-1}$ , usually will be followed by an error of the opposite sign,  $\varepsilon_t$ . The graph of the residuals of this time series crosses the time axis very often. (Figure 10) So most positive errors tend to be followed or preceded by negative errors and vice versa.



Even though the graphical analysis is very helpful, but it should be used as a complement to a statistical test. In this research, I performed the Lagrange Multiplier (LM) test based on the Johansen (1995) method to test the time series for autocorrelation.

#### 3.1.6.1 Autocorrelation Test: Lagrange Multiplier

LM-Test was developed by Trevor S. Breusch (1978) and Leslie G. Godfrey (1978). With this test, investigation of the relationship between and several of its lagged values is possible simultaneously. Furthermore, since the LM test examines the autocorrelation up to the r<sup>th</sup> order, it is better than other methods like Durbin—Watson test, which only measures the first-order autocorrelation.

The models of errors to be tested for autocorrelation can be written as:

$$u_t = p_1 u_{t-1} + p_2 u_{t-2} \dots + p_r u_{t-r} + v_1, \quad v \sim N(0, \sigma_v^2)$$

For the hypothesis testing, H<sub>0</sub>: no autocorrelation, which according to the equation can be represented:

$$H_0: p_1 = 0, p_2 = 0, \dots p_r = 0$$

And the alternative hypothesis is:

$$H_1: p_1 \neq 0, p_2 \neq 0, ..., p_r \neq 0$$

It should be noted that the test statistic for this method is  $x^2$  distributed with p degrees of freedom. If the test statistics value is more than the critical value of the Chi-Squared  $x^2$ , the null hypothesis will be rejected, and the time series has autocorrelation.

#### 3.1.7 Stability Test

If VAR is unstable, the impact of the shocks will never die out (rather will explode); thus, it is necessary to test the stability of the model. The method I used for the stability test in this thesis relies on analysing the eigenvalues of the model. If the roots of the companion matrix are lower than one, inside the unit circle, it implies that the model is stable; otherwise, the modification should be applied to the model or data.

#### 3.1.8 Impulse Response Function

Performing Granger-causality reveals whether a variable in the model will impact other variables or not. However, finding the sign of this impact with this method is not possible. Essentially, the question that arises here is how a shock that appears at a certain point of time in one variable is processed in the system and which impact it has over time not only for this particular variable but also for the other variables of the system. In order to answer this question, I used: the impulse response function.

In this method, a unit shock to the error term will be applied, and when it enters the VAR model, the IRF allows us to trace out the time path of the shock on the variables. Since my models are VAR with two variables, I provided a further explanation with one example for a better understanding based on my models.

If we assume a 2-variable model, with a single lag, we can write this VAR model as:

$$y_{1t} = \beta_{11}y_{1t-1} + \alpha_{11}y_{2t-1} + u_{1t}$$
  
$$y_{2t} = \beta_{21}y_{2t-1} + \alpha_{21}y_{1t-1} + u_{2t}$$

Also, can be written as:

$$\begin{pmatrix} y_{1t} \\ y_{2t} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \beta_{11} & \alpha_{11} \\ \alpha_{21} & \beta_{21} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y_{1t-1} \\ y_{2t-1} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} u_{1t} \\ u_{2t} \end{pmatrix}$$
  
$$y_t = \beta_1 y_{t-1} + u_t$$

If

$$\beta_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0.5 & 0.3 \\ 0 & 0.2 \end{pmatrix}$$

Without any shock, at t = 0

$$y_0 = u_0 = {\binom{u_{10}}{u_{20}}} = {\binom{0}{0}}$$

And at t =1

$$y_1 = \beta_1 y_0 + u_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0.5 & 0.3 \\ 0 & 0.2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} u_{11} \\ u_{21} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u_{11} \\ u_{21} \end{pmatrix}$$

Now, if a unit shock will be applied at t=0, we can analyze its effect:

$$y_0 = {\binom{y_{10}}{y_{20}}} = {\binom{u_{10}}{u_{20}}} = {\binom{1}{0}}$$

The effect of the shock at t = 1:

$$y_1 = \beta_1 y_0 + u_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0.5 & 0.3 \\ 0 & 0.2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} u_{11} \\ u_{21} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0.8 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} u_{11} \\ u_{21} \end{pmatrix}$$

The matrix in blue rectangular indicates the effect of a unit shock at t=0 on  $y_{1t}$ . It will thus be possible to plot the impulse response functions of  $y_{1t}$  and  $y_{2t}$  to a unit shock in  $y_{1t}$ . The same procedure will be applied for the shock in  $y_{2t}$ . It can be understood that in a system of 2 variables, there are four impulse response functions, the effect of the shock of each variable on itself and the other one.

Since IRFs are constructed using the estimated coefficients, and each coefficient is estimated imprecisely, the impulse responses also contain an error. The solution is to represent confidence intervals around the impulse responses that allow for the parameter uncertainty inherent in the estimation process. In the results chapter, the IRFs results are shown with a 95 percent confidence interval.

## 3.2 Vector Error Correction Model

Dealing with non-stationary variables that are cointegrated, we must use a restricted VAR model called Vector Error Correction Model or VECM.

The VEC restricts the long-run behaviour of the endogenous variables to converge to their cointegrating relationships while allowing for short-run adjustment dynamics. The cointegration term is called the *error correction term*, since the deviation from long-run equilibrium is corrected gradually through a series of partial short-run adjustments.

In the simplest form of Vector Error Correction, there are two non-stationary but cointegrated variables. Their cointegration relationship can be written as:

$$y_{2,t} = \beta y_{1,t}$$

The VEC Model for these variables is expressed like:

$$\Delta y_{1,t} = \alpha_1 (y_{2,t-1} - \beta y_{1,t-1}) + \varepsilon_{1,t}$$
  
$$\Delta y_{2,t} = \alpha_2 (y_{2,t-1} - \beta y_{1,t-1}) + \varepsilon_{2,t}$$

In these equations, the  $y_{2,t-1} - \beta y_{1,t-1}$  is called Error Correction term, which is equal to zero in long-run equilibrium. If two variables are deviating from their equilibrium, each one tries to restore it partially. In this case, the Error Correction Term is different from zero, and the term  $\alpha_i$  indicates the speed of adjustment for each variable.

In the case of multiple variables, there is a vector of error-correction terms of length equal to the number of cointegrating vectors among the series.

# 4) Data Material

Financial data often differ from macroeconomic data regarding their frequency, accuracy, seasonality, and other properties. Accurate quantification of economic relationships depends not only on econometric model-building skills but also on the quality of the data used for analysis. Thus, the data must be derived from a reliable collection process. In my thesis, I used data in two periods; the first is from January 2009 until the end of 2019, and the second is from June 2020 until September 2021. In this chapter I will explain the reasons of choosing each index.

## 4.1 Renewable Energies

### 4.1.1 Alternative Energies

The WilderHill New Energy Global Innovation Index (NEX) comprises companies whose innovative technologies and services focus on generating and using clean energy, lower CO2- renewables, conservation, and efficiency. The index has been active from December 2000, and from 2006 is known as the best of its kind.

The index is mainly composed of 125 companies worldwide focused on wind, solar, biofuels, hydro, wave and tidal, geothermal, and other relevant renewable energy businesses, as well as energy conversion, storage, conservation, efficiency, materials, pollution control, emerging hydrogen and fuel cells.

To be included in the index, companies should meet some requirements like:

- At least 10 percent of each company's market value is derived from the activities in Alternative Energies.
- They should be listed on at least one of the big international or national exchange markets.
- Their market capitalization for each 3-month should have an average of 100m USD.
- At least 250000 shares of this company should have been traded in the last six months.

### 4.1.2 Biofuels

The launch date of the S&P GSCI Biofuel Index (SPGSBF) is July 2007. It provides a benchmark for investment in the biofuels sector and as a measure of performance of this commodity over time.

The difference between this index and other ones is that this index pays attention to the biofuel industry contracts to track the performance of Biofuels. Thus, the eligibility criteria will be applied to the contracts, and there is no limit on the number of contracts, just:

- The contract must be denominated in U.S. dollars.
- The contract must have specific determined terms, like volume, time of delivery and its method, price, payment method, the penalty for delay or cancelation, and the expiry date.
- The commodity in the contract should meet some requirements like the average amount of trade and the annual average price.

### 4.1.3 Solar Energy

The Ardour Solar Energy Index, SOLRX, was launched in January 2005 and includes 27 companies from all around the world that are principally engaged in the solar energy sectors like Photovoltaics, Solar Thermal, Solar Lighting.

Some of SOLRX selection criteria for companies are:

- The company must derive 66% or more of its annual revenues from its participation in the solar energy sector.
- The company must be traded on at least one recognized stock exchange in the Americas, Europe, Middle East & Africa (EMEA), and Asia/Pacific.
- The company must have a minimum capitalization of 100 m USD and a minimum average daily trading volume greater than 1 m USD.

### 4.1.4 Wind Energy

The ISE Global Wind Energy Index (GWE) began in December 2005 and is designed to track the companies active in the wind energy industry based on analysis of the products and services offered by those companies.

The number of companies in this index is not fixed; thus, every stock in the wind industry that meets the index's eligibility requirements can be included in it. Some requirements are:

- The market capitalization of the company must be at least 100 m USD.
- The daily trading volume of the company should be at least 500 thousand USD for the last three months.
- Before being included in the index, it should be traded at least for three months in one recognized stock exchange.

According to the weighting method (quintile-based modified capitalization-weighted), which is used in this index, it does not let the large companies' stocks dominate the index.

### 4.2 Crude Oil

Between a considerable number of benchmarks for crude oil prices, West Texas Intermediate (WTI) and ICE Brent crude (Brent) are the most important ones with the most influences.

WTI is the leading benchmark of crude oil in the United States of America, and it refers to oil extracted from wells in the U.S. and sent via pipeline to Cushing, Oklahoma. On the other hand, the Brent is more worldwide, and almost two-thirds of all crude contracts around the world are referenced by it. Brent is used to pricing 15 different fields in the North Sea like the Forties, Oseberg, Ekofisk, and fields in Africa and the Middle East.



Figure 11: The Benchmark which is used in different countries (Source: Intercontinental Exchange (ICE)

In order to analyze the crude oil price, I used the futures price of these benchmarks for several reasons. First of all, after the oil crisis at the end of the 1970s, the buyers paid more attention to finding a way to minimize the risk of sudden fluctuation in oil price, and they started to use crude oil futures contracts in which they could lock the price several month or

years before buying it. Furthermore, previous researchers like Sadorsky (2001) and Scholtens & Wang (2008) stated that future prices are a better reflection of real oil price because despite of the spot prices, it is not affected by short-term supply-demand shocks. Also, before them, Gurcan(1998) and Crowder and Hamed (1993) believed that spot prices can be manipulated by big Oil & Gas companies.

The prices according to these benchmarks are highly correlated, and choosing just one of them may damage the results of the analysis. In order to robust my model, I used the average prices of these benchmarks.



Figure 12: Annual WTI and Brent crude oil price

	OILPRICE	NEXINDEX	BIOFUELIND	SOLARINDEX	WINDINDEX
Mean Median Maximum Std. Dev. Skewness Kurtosis	4.273083 4.272313 4.786741 3.531641 0.319690 -0.198073 1.896999	5.187159 5.221976 5.516167 4.665230 0.186346 -0.881893 3.422393	4.881101 4.805843 5.405736 4.578518 0.231544 0.672314 2.168371	6.479812 6.294951 7.714512 5.568157 0.631635 0.612223 2.016690	4.863657 4.918979 5.205324 4.206184 0.240873 -0.941310 3.105678
Jarque-Bera	7.554484	18.09145	13.74797	13.56392	19.55485
Probability	0.022886	0.000118	0.001034	0.001134	0.000057
Sum	564.0469	684.7049	644.3054	855.3352	642.0028
Sum Sq. Dev.	13.38844	4.548930	7.023246	52.26420	7.600602
Observations	132	132	132	132	132

# 4.3 Descriptive Statistics of Data Sample

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics of The Data during the First Period, 2009-2019

	LOGOIL	LOGNEX	LOGBIO	LOGSOLAR	LOGWIND
Mean Median Maximum Minimum Std. Dev. Skewness Kutherin	4.008880 4.053160 4.327900 3.600731 0.255718 -0.175847	6.035163 6.130155 6.344811 5.498110 0.243921 -0.874620 2.687146	4.923586 4.984014 5.162097 4.589142 0.205569 -0.389376 1.656734	6.975533 7.110260 7.341597 6.135764 0.349000 -1.270512 3.480624	5.523877 5.589808 5.685279 5.178012 0.143933 -1.053781 3.040586
Kurtosis Jarque-Bera Probability	1.506099 1.570287 0.456054	2.087140 2.105148 0.349038	1.607211 0.447712	3.480624 4.458535 0.107607	2.962308 0.227375
Sum Sum Sq. Dev. Observations	64.14207 0.980877 16	96.56261 0.892464 16	78.77738 0.633882 16	111.6085 1.827014 16	88.38204 0.310749 16

Table 2: Descriptive Statistics of The Data during the Second Period, 2020-2021

# 5) Statistical Validity of my Models

In order to avoid the misleading results arising from using the wrong model, I will analyse the stochastic properties of the series that I used in this research. Investigating these properties helps me to understand whether any modification in my Vector Autoregressive Models is necessary or not. Ignoring this process will lead us to a statistically invalid model; thus, the conclusion would not be valuable. All of the tests have been described in previous chapters, and here I will only represent the discussion of the results.

### 5.1 Unit Root Tests

From the graphical analysis, it can be understood that all of the time series in both periods contain a unit root and are non-stationary in their level. As mentioned before, it is prevalent to have non-stationary data when dealing with financial time series.



Figure 13: Natural Logarithm of Data during the first period, 2009-2019



Figure 14: Natural Logarithm of Data during the second period, 2020-2021
Determination of order of integration is impossible with graphical analysis; therefore, I must conduct unit root tests for further analysis. To interpret the results of this test, I rely on five percentile rejection regions. One feature of the ADF test is that it reveals whether trend and drift are significant in describing the value of each observation or not. To examine this, I conducted the test for all three equations mentioned in the Stationary Test section and chose the most significant model.

The test results from the augmented Dickey-Fuller test can be found in the following tables. From the tables, I could confirm my suspicion of non-stationary time series for both periods.

	-				_	Augmente	a blokey i ali			
Null Hypothesis: OILPR Exogenous: Constant, I Lag Length: 0 (Automat	inear Trend		12)			Null Hypothesis: OIL ha: Exogenous: Constant, L Lag Length: 0 (Automati	inear Trend	SIC, maxlag=	3)	
			t-Statistic	Prob.*					t-Statistic	Prob.
Augmented Dickey-Full Test critical values:	er test statistic 1% level 5% level 10% level		-2.759107 -4.029595 -3.444487 -3.147063	0.2152		Augmented Dickey-Fulle Test critical values:	er test statistio 1% level 5% level 10% level	c	-2.353582 -4.728363 -3.759743 -3.324976	0.384
*MacKinnon (1996) one	e-sided p-value	IS.				*MacKinnon (1996) one- Warning: Probabilities a and may not be ac	nd critical val	ues calculated		vations
Augmented Dickey-Full Dependent Variable: D( Method: Least Squares Date: 10/18/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 200 Included observations:	OILPRICE) 15:01 9M02 2019M1	2				Augmented Dickey-Fulle Dependent Variable: D(/ Method: Least Squares Date: 11/02/21 Time: 1 Sample (adjusted): 2020 Included observations: 1	OIL) 7:31 0M07 2021M0	09		
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prob.		Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prot
OILPRICE(-1) C @TREND("2009M01")	-0.068210 0.326433 -0.000486	0.024722 0.112971 0.000209	-2.759107 2.889522 -2.325730			OIL(-1) C @TREND("2020M06")	-0.587905 20.91973 1.759615	0.249791 8.411109 0.757006	-2.353582 2.487155 2.324441	0.03 0.02 0.03
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood F-statistic Prob(F-statistic)	0.065628 0.051029 0.079958 0.818345 146.5753 4.495220 0.012980	Mean depen S.D. depend Akaike info o Schwarz crit Hannan-Qui Durbin-Wats	lent var criterion terion nn criter.	0.002842 0.082080 -2.191989 -2.126145 -2.165234 1.645418		R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood F-statistic Prob(F-statistic)	0.319157 0.205683 4.031995 195.0838 -40.52442 2.812606 0.099605	Mean deper S.D. depend Akaike info Schwarz crit Hannan-Qui Durbin-Wats	lent var criterion erion nn criter.	2.3716 4.5240 5.8032 5.9448 5.8017 1.8984

Augmented Dickey-Fuller Unit Root Test on OILPRICE

Table 3: Augmented Dickey Fuller test on level for Oil Price, the left one is for period 2009-2019 and the

right one for period 2020-2021

Augmented Dickey-Fuller Unit Root Test on NEXINDEX

Null Hypothesis: NEXINDEX has a unit root Exogenous: Constant Lag Length: 0 (Automatic - based on SIC, maxlag=12)							
			t-Statistic	Prob.*			
Augmented Dickey-Fu Test critical values:	iller test statistic 1% level 5% level 10% level	;	-1.982482 -3.480818 -2.883579 -2.578601	0.2943			
*MacKinnon (1996) on	e-sided p-value	is.					
Dependent Variable: E Method: Least Square Date: 10/18/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 20 Included observations	s 16:39 09M02 2019M1						
Method: Least Square Date: 10/18/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 20	s 16:39 09M02 2019M1		t-Statistic	Prob.			
Method: Least Square Date: 10/18/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 20 Included observations	s 16:39 09M02 2019M1 : 131 after adju:	stments		Prob. 0.0496 0.0482			

Augmented Dickey-Fuller Unit Root Test on NEX

Augmented Dickey-Fuller Unit Root Test on OIL

Prob. 0.0365

0.0286

2.371667

4.524006

5.803256 5.944866

5.801748

Null Hypothesis: NEX I Exogenous: Constant Lag Length: 1 (Automa		SIC, maxlag=3	3)					
			t-Statistic	Prob.*				
Augmented Dickey-Ful Test critical values:	ler test statistic 1% level 5% level 10% level		-2.251203 -4.004425 -3.098896 -2.690439	0.1988				
*MacKinnon (1996) one-sided p-values. *Marking: Probabilities and critical values calculated for 20 observations and may not be accurate for a sample size of 14 Augmented Dickey-Fuller Test Equation Dependent Variable: D(NEX) Method: Least Squares Date: 11/02/21 Time: 17:36								
Sample (adjusted): 202 Included observations:								
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prob.				
NEX(-1) D(NEX(-1)) C	-0.236971 0.476851 108.9659	0.105264 0.211163 47.76092	-2.251203 2.258208 2.281486	0.0458 0.0452 0.0434				
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood F-statistic Prob(F-statistic)	0.513963 0.425593 32.52607 11637.40 -66.92559 5.816017 0.018909	Mean depen S.D. depend Akaike info o Schwarz crit Hannan-Qui Durbin-Wats	ent var riterion erion nn criter.	10.93500 42.91625 9.989370 10.12631 9.976694 1.900039				

Table 4: Augmented Dickey Fuller test on level for NEX Index, the left one is for period 2009-2019 and the

Augmented Dickey-Fuller Unit Root Test on BIOFUELINDEX

#### Augmented Dickey-Fuller Unit Root Test on BIO

Lag Length: 0 (Automati	ELINDEX has inear Trend c - based on		12)	
			t-Statistic	Prob.*
Augmented Dickey-Fulle Test critical values:	er test statistio 1% level 5% level 10% level	:	-2.830165 -4.029595 -3.444487 -3.147063	0.1893
*MacKinnon (1996) one-	sided p-value	es.		
Dependent Variable: D( Method: Least Squares	JUL OELIND			
Date: 10/18/21 Time: 1 Sample (adjusted): 2009 Included observations: 1 Variable	M02 2019M1		t-Statistic	Prob.
Sample (adjusted): 2009 Included observations: 1	M02 2019M1 31 after adju	stments Std. Error 0.029072	-2.830165	Prob. 0.0054 0.0047 0.0125

Null Hypothesis: BIO h Exogenous: None Lag Length: 0 (Automa		SIC, maxlag=3	)					
			t-Statistic	Prob.*				
Augmented Dickey-Ful Test critical values:	ler test statistic 1% level 5% level 10% level		1.778006 -2.728252 -1.966270 -1.605026	0.9757				
*MacKinnon (1996) one-sided p-values. Warning: Probabilities and critical values calculated for 20 observations and may not be accurate for a sample size of 15 Augmented Dickev-Fuller Test Equation								
Dependent Variable: D Method: Least Squares Date: 11/02/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 202 Included observations:	\$ 17:44 20M07 2021M0							
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prob.				
BIO(-1)	0.026708	0.015021	1.778006	0.0971				
BIO(-1)         0.026708         0.015021         1.778006         0.0971           R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression         -0.081614         Mean dependent var 8.12280         4.354667           S.E. of regression         8.212280         Akaike info criterion         7.193479           Sum squared resid         944.1815         Schwarz criterion         7.160682           Log likelihood         -52.35109         Hannan-Quinn criter.         7.112976								

 Table 5: Augmented Dickey Fuller test on level for Biofuel Index, the left one is for period 2009-2019 and

 the right one for period 2020-2021

Augmented	Dickey-Fuller	Unit Root	Test on	SOLARINDEX

Null Hypothesis: SOLARINDEX has a unit root Exogenous: Constant, Linear Trend Lag Length: 0 (Automatic - based on SIC, maxlag=12)

Augmented Dickey-Fuller test statistic Test critical values: 1% level 5% level 10% level

\*MacKinnon (1996) one-sided p-values.

#### Augmented Dickey-Fuller Unit Root Test on SOLAR

Null Hypothesis: SOLA Exogenous: Constant Lag Length: 1 (Automa			3)	
			t-Statistic	Prob.*
Augmented Dickey-Ful Test critical values:	ler test statistio 1% level 5% level 10% level		-2.611760 -4.004425 -3.098896 -2.690439	0.1138
*MacKinnon (1996) on Warning: Probabilities and may not be a Augmented Dickey-Ful Dependent Variable: D Method: Least Squarez Date: 11/02/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 20 Included observations:	and critical val ccurate for a sa ler Test Equati (SOLAR) s 16:35 20M08 2021M0	ues calculated ample size of 1 on 19		vations
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prob.
SOLAR(-1) D(SOLAR(-1)) C	-0.230415 0.475175 293.1556	0.088222 0.194001 107.9189	-2.611760 2.449348 2.716445	0.0242 0.0323 0.0201
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood F-statistic Prob(F-statistic)	0.606947 0.535483 87.06927 83391.64 -80.71086 8.493018 0.005881	Mean depen S.D. depend Akaike info o Schwarz crit Hannan-Quin Durbin-Wats	ent var riterion erion nn criter.	51.06519 127.7509 11.95869 12.09564 11.94602 1.904705

Augmented Dickey-Fuller Test Equation Dependent Variable: D(SOLARINDEX)

t-Statistic

-1.670846 -4.029595 -3.444487 -3.147063 Prob.\*

0.7587

Method: Least Squares Date: 10/18/21 Time: 1 Sample (adjusted): 2009 Included observations: 1	0M02 2019M1			
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prob.
SOLARINDEX(-1) C @TREND("2009M01")	-0.047032 0.322389 -0.000427	0.028148 0.208249 0.000469	-1.670846 1.548090 -0.909013	0.0972 0.1241 0.3651
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood F-statistic Prob(F-statistic)	0.024916 0.009680 0.123179 1.942141 89.96616 1.635366 0.198926	Mean depen S.D. depend Akaike info c Schwarz crite Hannan-Quir Durbin-Wats	ent var riterion erion nn criter.	-0.010679 0.123779 -1.327728 -1.261883 -1.300972 1.882138

Table 6: Augmented Dickey Fuller test on level for Solar Index, the left one is for period 2009-2019 and the

right one for period 2020-2021

Augmented Dickey-Fuller Unit Root Test on WINDINDEX Augmented Dickey-Fuller Unit Root Test on WIND

Null Hypothesis: WINE Exogenous: Constant Lag Length: 0 (Automa			12)		Null Hypothesis: WIND has a unit root Exogenous: None Lag Length: 0 (Automatic - based on SIC, maxlag=3)	
			t-Statistic	Prob.*	t-Statisti	Prob.*
Augmented Dickey-Fu Test critical values:	ller test statistic 1% level 5% level 10% level		-1.372905 -3.480818 -2.883579 -2.578601	0.5938	Augmented Dickey-Fuller test statistic         1.19998           Test critical values:         1% level         -2.72825           5% level         -1.96627           10% level         -1.60502	2
*MacKinnon (1996) on Augmented Dickey-Fu	Iller Test Equati	ion			*MacKinnon (1996) one-sided p-values. Warning: Probabilities and critical values calculated for 20 ol and may not be accurate for a sample size of 15	servations
Dependent Variable: D Method: Least Square Date: 11/11/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 20 Included observations	s 17:51 09M02 2019M1	12			Augmented Dickey-Fuller Test Equation Dependent Variable: D(WIND) Method: Least Squares Date: 11/02/21 Time: 17:33 Sample (adjusted): 2020M07 2021M09	
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prob.	Included observations: 15 after adjustments	
WINDINDEX(-1) C	-0.031505 0.157816	0.022948	-1.372905 1.413046	0.1722	Variable Coefficient Std. Error t-Stati	tic Prob.
					WIND(-1) 0.019007 0.015839 1.199	88 0.2501
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood F-statistic Prob(F-statistic)	0.014401 0.006761 0.062774 0.508328 177.7637 1.884869 0.172164	Mean depen S.D. depend Akaike info o Schwarz crit Hannan-Qui Durbin-Wats	lent var criterion erion nn criter.	0.004668 0.062987 -2.683415 -2.639519 -2.665578 1.794770	R-squared         -0.063317         Mean dependent var           Adjusted R-squared         -0.063317         S.D. dependent var           S.E. of regression         15.58931         Akaike info criterion           Sum squared resid         3402.372         Schwarz criterion           Log likelihood         -61.96541         Hannan-Quinn criter.           Durbin-Watson stat         1.109101         -	6.069333 15.11804 8.395388 8.442592 8.394885

 Table 7: Augmented Dickey Fuller test on level for Wind Index, the left one is for period 2009-2019 and the

 right one for period 2020-2021

As to why all of the time series were found non-stationary, the next step is to determine the order of integration for each observation by rerunning the test for higher orders. Repeating the test using differenced variables reveals that all of the considered time series are integrated of the first order I(1) because I could reject the null hypothesis of having a unit root for them. The results of the ADF test for the first differenced series for both periods are shown below.

Exogenous: None Lag Length: 0 (Automa	PRICE) has a itic - based on		12)	
			t-Statistic	Prob.*
Augmented Dickey-Fu Test critical values:	ler test statistic 1% level 5% level 10% level		-9.486353 -2.582872 -1.943304 -1.615087	0.0000
Augmented Dickey-Fu Dependent Variable: D		on		
Method: Least Square: Date: 10/18/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 200 Included observations:	15:06 09M03 2019M1			
Date: 10/18/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 200	15:06 09M03 2019M1		t-Statistic	Prob.
Date: 10/18/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 200 Included observations:	15:06 09M03 2019M1 130 after adju	stments	t-Statistic	Prob.

Augmented Dickey-Fuller Unit Root Test on D(OILPRICE)

Augmented	I Dickey-Fuller	Unit Root	Test on D(OIL)
-----------	-----------------	-----------	----------------

Exogenous: None Lag Length: 0 (Automa	.) has a unit roo atic - based on		3)	
			t-Statistic	Prob.*
Augmented Dickey-Ful Test critical values:	ller test statistic 1% level 5% level 10% level		-3.199998 -2.740613 -1.968430 -1.604392	0.0037
*MacKinnon (1996) on Warning: Probabilities and may not be a Augmented Dickey-Ful Dependent Variable: D Method: Least Squares Date: 11/02/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 202	and critical val ccurate for a sa (Iler Test Equati (OIL,2) s 17:32 20M08 2021M0	ues calculated ample size of 1 ion 19		vations
Included observations:				
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prob.
			t-Statistic	Prob.

Table 8: Augmented dickey fuller test on Differenced Oil Price, the left one is for period 2009-2019 and the right one for

period 2020-2021

Augmented Dickey-Fuller Unit Root Test on D(NEXINDEX)

Null Hypothesis: D(NEXINDEX) has a unit root Exogenous: None Lag Length: 0 (Automatic - based on SIC, maxlag=12)										
t-Statistic Prob.*										
Augmented Dickey-Fuller test statistic         -11.53588         0.0000           Test critical values:         1% level         -2.582872         -2.582872           5% level         -1.943304         -1.943304         -1.615087										
*MacKinnon (1996) one-sided p-values. Augmented Dickey-Fuller Test Equation Dependent Variable: D(NEXINDEX,2) Method: Least Squares Date: 10/18/21 Time: 16:41 Sample (adjusted): 2009M03 2019M12 Included observations: 130 after adjustments										
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prob.						
D(NEXINDEX(-1))	-1.007068	0.087299	-11.53588	0.0000						
R-squared Adjusted R-squared	0.507620	507620         Mean dependent var         0.001722           507620         S.D. dependent var         0.096763           067899         Akaike info criterion         -2.533942           594717         Schwarz criterion         -2.511885           57.7063         Hannan-Quinn criter.         -2.524980           920698         -2.524980         -2.524980								

A	Distant Dallas	1.1	D +	T		
Augmented	Dickey-Fuller	Unit	ROOL	rest	on	D(NEX)

Exogenous: None Lag Length: 0 (Automatic - based on SIC, maxlag=3)										
			t-Statistic	Prob.*						
Augmented Dickey-Fuller test statistic         -1.976380         0.0492           Test critical values:         1% level         -2.740613         -2.740613           5% level         -1.968430         -1.968430         -1.604392										
*MacKinnon (1996) one-sided p-values. Warning: Probabilities and critical values calculated for 20 observations and may not be accurate for a sample size of 14 Augmented Dickey-Fuller Test Equation Dependent Variable: D(NEX,2) Method: Least Squares Date: 11/02/21 Time: 17:43 Sample (adjusted): 2020M08 2021M09										
Dependent Variable: D Method: Least Squares Date: 11/02/21 Time:	(NEX,2) s 17:43 20M08 2021M0	)9								
Dependent Variable: D Method: Least Square: Date: 11/02/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 202	(NEX,2) s 17:43 20M08 2021M0	)9	t-Statistic	Prob						
Dependent Variable: D Method: Least Square: Date: 11/02/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 202 Included observations:	0(NEX,2) s 17:43 20M08 2021M0 14 after adjust	19 tments	t-Statistic -1.976380	Prob.						

period 2020-2021

#### Augmented Dickey-Fuller Unit Root Test on D(BIOFUELINDEX)

#### Augmented Dickey-Fuller Unit Root Test on D(BIO)

Null Hypothesis: D(BIO) has a unit root

Null Hypothesis: D(BIOFUELINDEX) has a unit root Exogenous: None Lag Length: 0 (Automatic - based on SIC, maxlag=12)									
			t-Statistic	Prob.*					
Augmented Dickey-Fuller test statistic         -10.27615         0.0000           Test critical values:         1% level         -2.582872         5% level         -1.943304           5% level         -1.943304         10% level         -1.615087									
*MacKinnon (1996) one-	sided p-value	15.							
Augmented Dickey-Fulle Dependent Variable: D(E Method: Least Squares Date: 10/18/21 Time: 1 Sample (adjusted): 2009 Included observations: 1	810FUELIND 8:48 M03 2019M1	EX.2) 2							
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prob.					
D(BIOFUELINDEX(-1))	-0.902704	0.087845	-10.27615	0.0000					
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.450111 0.450111 0.060044 0.465085 181.6875 1.988194		lent var criterion erion	0.000421 0.080972 -2.779807 -2.757749 -2.770844					

			t-Statistic	Prob.*					
Augmented Dickey-Fuller test statistic         -2.751540         0.0098           Test critical values:         1% level         -2.740613         -2.740613           5% level         -1.968430         -1.0604392         -1.004392									
Warning: Probabilities	*MacKinnon (1996) one-sided p-values. Warning: Probabilities and critical values calculated for 20 observations and may not be accurate for a sample size of 14								
Augmented Dickey-Fuller Test Equation Dependent Variable: D(BIO,2) Method: Least Squares Date: 11/02/21 Time: 17:44 Sample (adjusted): 2020M08 2021M09 Included observations: 14 after adjustments									
Dependent Variable: D Method: Least Square: Date: 11/02/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 202	)(BIO,2) s 17:44 20M08 2021M0	99							
Dependent Variable: D Method: Least Square: Date: 11/02/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 202	)(BIO,2) s 17:44 20M08 2021M0	99	t-Statistic	Prob.					
Dependent Variable: D Method: Least Square: Date: 11/02/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 202 Included observations:	0(BIO,2) s 17:44 20M08 2021M0 : 14 after adjust	)9 tments	t-Statistic -2.751540	Prob.					

 Table 10: Augmented dickey fuller test on Differenced of Biofuel Index, the left one is for period 2009-2019 and the right

 one for period 2020-2021

Augmented Dickey-Fuller Unit Root Test on D(SOLARINDEX)

Null Hypothesis: D(SOLARINDEX) has a unit root Exogenous: None Lag Length: 0 (Automatic - based on SIC, maxlag=12)										
t-Statistic Prob."										
Augmented Dickey-Fuller test statistic         -11.29523         0.0000           Test critical values:         1% level         -2.582872           5% level         -1.943304           10% level         -1.615087										
"MacKinnon (1996) one-	-sided p-value	15.								
Augmented Dickey-Fulk Dependent Variable: D(3 Method: Least Squares Date: 10/18/21 Time: 1 Sample (adjusted): 2008 Included observations: 1	SOLARINDE> 5:48 9M03 2019M1 130 after adju:	(,2) 2 stments								
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prob.						
D(SOLARINDEX(-1))	-0.977512	0.086542	-11.29523	0.0000						
R-squared         0.497087         Mean dependent var         0.002974           Adjusted R-squared         0.497087         S.D. dependent var         0.172375           S.E. of regression         0.122242         Akaike info criterion         -1.357088           Sum squared resid         1.927656         Schwarz criterion         -1.357088           Jurbin-Watson stat         1.915588         1.915588         -1.349005										

Augmented Dickey-Fuller Unit Root Test on D(SOLAR)

Null Hypothesis: D(SOLAR) has a unit root Exogenous: None Lag Length: 0 (Automatic - based on SIC, maxlag=3)									
			t-Statistic	Prob.*					
Augmented Dickey-Fuller test statistic         -3.874821         0.0078           Test critical values:         1% level         -2.740613         5% level         -1.968430           10% level         -1.604382         -1.604382         -1.604382         -1.604382									
Warning: Probabilities	*MacKinnon (1996) one-sided p-values. Warning: Probabilities and critical values calculated for 20 observations and may not be accurate for a sample size of 14								
Augmented Dickey-Ful Dependent Variable: D Method: Least Squares Date: 11/12/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 202 Included observations:	(SOLAR,2) 5 07:15 20M08 2021M0	19							
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prob.					
D(SOLAR(-1))	-0.344202	0.205515	-1.674821	0.1178					
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.177169 0.177169 103.5697 139447.0 -84.30982 1.717253	S.D. depend Akaike info o Schwarz crit	ent var riterion erion	-2.128936 114.1767 12.18712 12.23276 12.18289					

Table 11: Augmented dickey fuller test on Differenced of Solar Index, the left one is for period 2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021

Augmented Dicke	y-Fuller Unit	Root Test on	n D(WINDINDEX)
-----------------	---------------	--------------	----------------

#### Augmented Dickey-Fuller Unit Root Test on D(WIND)

0.0174

-2.247857 16.67883

8.102956

8.148603

8.098731

					-					
Null Hypothesis: D(WIN Exogenous: None Lag Length: 0 (Automa			12)			Null Hypothesis: D(WII Exogenous: None Lag Length: 0 (Automa			3)	
			t-Statistic	Prob."	1				t-Statistic	Prob.*
Augmented Dickey-Ful Test critical values:	ler test statistic 1% level 5% level 10% level		-10.36150 -2.582872 -1.943304 -1.615087	0.0000		Augmented Dickey-Fu Test critical values:	ller test statisti 1% level 5% level 10% level	C	-2.723058 -2.740613 -1.968430 -1.604392	0.0104
"MacKinnon (1996) one	e-sided p-value	<b>15</b> .				*MacKinnon (1996) on Warning: Probabilities and may not be a	and critical val	ues calculated		vations
Augmented Dickey-Ful Dependent Variable: D Method: Least Squares Date: 10/18/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 200 Included observations:	(WINDINDEX, 5 15:27 09M03 2019M1	2)				Augmented Dickey-Fu Dependent Variable: D Method: Least Square: Date: 11/02/21 Time: Sample (adjusted): 20? Included observations:	0(WIND,2) s 17:35 20M08 2021M0	09		
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prob.		Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prob
D(WINDINDEX(-1))	-0.910251	0.087849	-10.36150	0.0000		D(WIND(-1))	-0.598221	0.219687	-2.723058	0.017
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.454221 0.454221 0.063111 0.513804 175.2121 1.993411	Mean depen S.D. depend Akaike info o Schwarz crit Hannan-Qui	ent var criterion erion	0.000190 0.085427 -2.680186 -2.658128 -2.671223		R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.350759 0.350759 13.43906 2347.907 -55.72089 1.756861	Mean depen S.D. depend Akaike info o Schwarz crit Hannan-Qui	lent var criterion erion	-2.2478 16.6788 8.1029 8.14860 8.09873

Table 12: Augmented dickey fuller test on Differenced of Wind Index, the left one is for period 2009-2019 and the

right one for period 2020-2021

From the graphical point of view, figures below show the change in the time series before and after being differenced for one time. It can be seen that now the time series are stationary and fluctuate around zero with constant variance.







# 5.2 Lag Length & Cointegration

Transforming time series to stationary successfully, I must determine the optimal number of lags in my Vector Autoregressive Models. For this purpose, I used the information criteria approach. According to previous studies for monthly data, the best information criteria is MAIC, so I used it to find the maximum lag number in my model. Also, for more accuracy, I checked the value of HQIC as a supplementary criterion that gives the most trustable results. The optimal number of lags for modeling renewable energy prices vs. oil prices is presented below.

Optimal num	ber of lags for	VAR and VECM	Optimal	number of lags	for VAR and VECM
	Oil Price	D(Oil Price)		Oil Price	D(Oil Price)
D(NEX Index)	-	1	D(NEX)	-	1
D(Solar Index)	-	1	Solar	1	-
D(Wind Index)	-	1	D(Wind)	-	1
Biofuel index	2	-	D(Bio)	-	1

Table 13: Optimal Number of lags, the left table for period 2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021

Conducting Johansen's test revealed that in both periods, for one occasion, I should use the Vector Error Correction Model instead of VAR because two I(1) time series (biofuel and oil in the first period, Solar and oil in the second period) are cointegrated. Since in the VECM model stationarity is not essential, the optimal number of lags is chosen by variables on their level, and differencing is not needed.

The results of Lag Length detection and Johansen's test for Cointegration from the software are shown in the appendix.

# 5.3 Autocorrelation

Estimating the number of lags by minimizing the information criteria can make the VAR and VECM models invalid because it increases the probability of having autocorrelation. In my research, LM test results say the models don't exhibit autocorrelation; therefore, the optimal number of lags is as same as before. In the case of having autocorrelation, the number of lags should be increased until autocorrelation disappears.

VAR Residual Serial Correlation LM Tests Date: 11/05/21 Time: 18:28 Sample: 2009M01 2019M12 Included observations: 131											
Null hypo	Null hypothesis: No serial correlation at lag h										
Lag	LRE* stat	df	Prob.	Rao F-stat	df	Prob.					
1 2 3	5.985398 0.701668 8.417550		0.9511	1.508300 0.174962 2.131546	(4, 250.0)	0.9511					
Null hypo	othesis: No se	rial cor	relation at	lags 1 to h							
Lag	LRE* stat	df	Prob.	Rao F-stat	df	Prob.					
1 2 3	5.985398 6.581083 14.38265			0.823559		0.5825					
'Edgewo	rth expansion	correc	ted likelih	ood ratio stat	istic.						

VAR Residual Serial Correlation LM Tests Date: 11/08/21 Time: 11:06 Sample: 2020M06 2021M09 Included observations: 15										
Null hypo	othesis: No se	rial cor	relation at	lag h						
Lag	LRE* stat	df	Prob.	Rao F-stat	df	Prob.				
1 2	1.335182 2.579607			0.327603 0.654377	(4, 18.0) (4, 18.0)					
Null hypo	othesis: No se	rial cor	relation at	lags 1 to h						
Lag	LRE* stat	df	Prob.	Rao F-stat	df	Prob.				
1 2	1.335182 6.030065			0.327603 0.745092						
*Edgewo	orth expansion	correc	ted likelih	ood ratio stati	stic.					

 Table 14: The LM test results for autocorrelation NEX Index and Oil Price, the left table is for period 2009-2019 and

 the right one for period 2020-2021

Date: 11 Sample:	sidual Serial C /12/21 Time: 2009M01 201 observations:	09:31 9M12	ion LM Te	sts					
Null hype	othesis: No se	rial cor	relation at	lag h					
Lag	LRE* stat	df	Prob.	Rao F-stat	df	Prob.			
1 2 3	1.554784 3.198174 1.929181		0.8169 0.5252 0.7488	0.801532	(4, 240.0)	0.5252			
Null hype	othesis: No se	rial cor	relation at	lags 1 to h					
Lag	LRE* stat	df	Prob.	Rao F-stat	df	Prob.			
1 2 3	1.554784 11.32378 15.45125	8	0.1840	1.431345	(8, 236.0)				
*Edgewo	'Edgeworth expansion corrected likelihood ratio statistic.								

Date: 11 Sample:	sidual Serial C /12/21 Time: 2020M06 202 observations:	09:38 1M09	ion LM Te	sts					
Null hypothesis: No serial correlation at lag h									
Lag	LRE* stat	df	Prob.	Rao F-stat	df	Prob.			
1 2	1.774391 3.021747			0.440499 0.775728	(4, 18.0) (4, 18.0)				
Null hypo	othesis: No se	rial cor	relation at	lags 1 to h					
Lag	LRE* stat	df	Prob.	Rao F-stat	df	Prob.			
1 1.774391 4 0.7772 0.440499 (4, 18.0) 0.7777 2 6.759750 8 0.5628 0.854519 (8, 14.0) 0.5736									
*Edgewo	*Edgeworth expansion corrected likelihood ratio statistic.								

Table 15: The LM test results for autocorrelation Biofuel Index and Oil Price, the left table is for period 2009-2019

and the right one for period 2020-2021

Jull hum	othesis: No se	rial cor	relation at	lag h		
Lag		df		Rao F-stat	df	Prob.
1	3.356291	4	0.5001	0.841398	(4, 244.0)	0.5001
2	2.876010	4	0.5788	0.720287	(4, 244.0)	0.5788
3	3.748346	4	0.4411	0.940437	(4, 244.0)	0.4411
Null hyp	othesis: No se	rial cor	relation at	lags 1 to h		
Lag	LRE* stat	df	Prob.	Rao F-stat	df	Prob.
1	3.356291	4	0.5001	0.841398	(4, 244.0)	0.5001
2	8.410692	8	0.3944	1.056536	(8, 240.0)	0.3945

Date: 11 Sample:	VEC Residual Serial Correlation LM Tests Date: 11/12/21 Time: 09:46 Sample: 2020M06 2021M09 Included observations: 14										
Null hypo	Null hypothesis: No serial correlation at lag h										
Lag	LRE* stat	df	Prob.	Rao F-stat	df	Prob.					
1 2	6.855392 5.242933			2.027795 1.464397							
Null hypo	othesis: No se	rial cor	relation at	lags 1 to h							
Lag	LRE* stat	df	Prob.	Rao F-stat	df	Prob.					
1 6.855392 4 0.1437 2.027795 (4, 14.0) 0.1456 2 10.29924 8 0.2446 1.510448 (8, 10.0) 0.2658											
"Edgewo	rth expansion	correc	ted likelih	ood ratio stati	stic.						

 Table 16: The LM test results for autocorrelation Solar Index and Oil Price, the left table is for period 2009-2019 and

 the right one for period 2020-2021

Date: 11 Sample:	VAR Residual Serial Correlation LM Tests Date: 11/12/21 Time: 09:45 Sample: 2009M01 2019M12 Included observations: 130										
Null hypothesis: No serial correlation at lag h											
Lag	LRE* stat	df	Prob.	Rao F-stat	df	Prob.					
1 2 3	4.238937 2.434393 7.952493	4	0.6564	1.064514 0.609127 2.012099		0.6564					
Null hype	othesis: No se	rial cor	relation at	lags 1 to h							
Lag	LRE* stat	df	Prob.	Rao F-stat	df	Prob.					
1 4.238937 4 0.3746 1.064514 (4,248.0) 0.3746 2 12.30647 8 0.1380 1.558119 (8,244.0) 0.1381 3 21.83635 12 0.0394 1.864410 (12,240.0) 0.0395											
*Edgewo	orth expansion	correc	ted likelih	ood ratio stat	istic.						

Date: 11. Sample:	VAR Residual Serial Correlation LM Tests Date: 11/12/21 Time: 09:47 Sample: 2020M06 2021M09 Included observations: 15										
Null hypothesis: No serial correlation at lag h											
Lag	LRE* stat	df	Prob.	Rao F-stat	df	Prob.					
1 2	1 2.988972 4 0.5597 0.766635 (4, 18.0) 0.5607 2 4.320107 4 0.3644 1.148847 (4, 18.0) 0.3657										
Null hypo	othesis: No se	rial cor	relation at	lags 1 to h							
Lag	LRE* stat	df	Prob.	Rao F-stat	df	Prob.					
1 2.988972 4 0.5597 0.766635 (4, 18.0) 0.5607 2 12.05515 8 0.1488 1.806376 (8, 14.0) 0.1592											
*Edgewo	orth expansion	correc	ted likelih	ood ratio stati	stic.						

 Table 17: The LM test results for autocorrelation Wind Index and Oil Price, the left table is for period 2009-2019

 and the right one for period 2020-2021

# 5.4 Stability

Calculating eigenvalues of my models and the fact that all of them are less than 1, confirms that my models are stable. The figures show the result of Inverse Root calculation of the models.



Figure 17: Stability test of NEX Index- Oil Price model, the left figure is for period 2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021



Figure 18: Stability test of Biofuel Index- Oil Price model, the left figure is for period 2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021



Inverse Roots of AR Characteristic Polynomial



Figure 19: Stability test of Solar Index- Oil Price model, the left figure is for period 2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021



Figure 20: Stability test of Wind Index- Oil Price model, the left figure is for period 2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021

## 5.5 Granger Causality & Impulse Response Functions

Understanding the relationship between the variables using these functions is necessary; first, Granger Causality reveals whether the relationship exists. Then, using the Impulse Response function allows me to determine the sign of this relationship and how long a shock in one variable will affect the other one.

The impulse response functions, which are presented in the figures, measure the response of the dependent variable to a positive shock in one of the independent variables. The solid line tracks the response in time in these figures, and two dashed lines represent the 95 percent confidence interval.

The results of both functions are shown below. It is worth mentioning that no granger causality test is performed on the occasions when time series are cointegrated.

### 5.5.1 Results of Granger Causality Test

VAR Granger Causality/Block Exogeneity Wald Tests Date: 11/12/21 Time: 10:14 Sample: 2009M01 2019M12 Included observations: 130											
Dependent variable: DIFFNEXINDEX											
Excluded Chi-sq df Prob.											
DIFFOILPRICE	0.981015	1	0.3219								
All	0.981015	1	0.3219								
Dependent variable: DIF	FOILPRICE										
Excluded Chi-sq df Prob.											
DIFFNEXINDEX 0.258334 1 0.6113											
All	0.258334	1	All 0.258334 1 0.6113								

VAR Granger Causality/Block Exogeneity Wald Tests Date: 11/12/21 Time: 10:17 Sample: 2020M06 2021M09 Included observations: 14									
Dependent variable: DIFFLOGNEX									
Excluded Chi-sq df Prob.									
DIFFLOGOIL	DIFFLOGOIL 4.245147 1 0.0394								
All	4.245147	1	0.0394						
Dependent variable: DIF	FLOGOIL								
Excluded Chi-sq df Prob.									
DIFFLOGNEX 0.401013 1 0.5266									
All	0.401013	1	0.5266						

 Table 18: Granger Causality test result for NEX Index-Oil Price Model, the left figure is for period

 2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021

VAR Granger Causality/Block Exogeneity Wald Tests Date: 11/12/21 Time: 10:21 Sample: 2020M06 2021M09 Included observations: 14										
Dependent variable: DIFFLOGBIO										
Excluded	Chi-sq	df	Prob.							
DIFFLOGOIL	0.030672	1	0.8610							
All	0.030672	1	0.8610							
Dependent variable: DI	FFLOGOIL									
Excluded	Excluded Chi-sq df Prob.									
DIFFLOGBIO 0.234829 1 0.6280										
All	0.234829	1	0.6280							

Table 19: Granger Causality test result for Biofuel Index-Oil Price Model, for period 2020-2021

VAR Granger Causality/Block Exogeneity Wald Tests Date: 11/12/21 Time: 10:25 Sample: 2009M01 2019M12 Included observations: 130										
Dependent variable: DIFFSOLARINDEX										
Excluded Chi-sq df Prob.										
DIFFOILPRICE	DIFFOILPRICE 0.310373 1 0.5775									
All	0.310373	1	0.5775							
Dependent variable: DIF	FOILPRICE									
Excluded	Excluded Chi-sq df Prob.									
DIFFSOLARINDEX	DIFFSOLARINDEX 0.096031 1 0.7566									
All	0.096031	1	0.7566							

Table 20: Granger Causality test result for Solar Index-Oil Price Model, for period 2009-2019

VAR Granger Causality/Block Exogeneity Wald Tests Date: 11/12/21 Time: 10:28 Sample: 2009M01 2019M12 Included observations: 130					VAR Granger Causality Date: 11/12/21 Time: 1 Sample: 2020M06 2021 Included observations:	0:30 M09	y Wald Te	ests
Dependent variable: DIF	FWINDINDEX				Dependent variable: DI	FFLOGWIND		
Excluded	Chi-sq	df	Prob.		Excluded	Chi-sq	df	Prob.
DIFFOILPRICE	0.039633	1	0.8422		DIFFLOGOIL	0.102870	1	0.7484
All	0.039633	1	0.8422		All	0.102870	1	0.7484
Dependent variable: DIF	FOILPRICE				Dependent variable: DIF	FLOGOIL		
Excluded	Chi-sq	df	Prob.		Excluded	Chi-sq	df	Prob.
DIFFWINDINDEX	0.998350	1	0.3177		DIFFLOGWIND	0.986967	1	0.3205
All	0.998350	1	0.3177		All	0.986967	1	0.3205

 Table 21: Granger Causality test result for Wind Index-Oil Price Model the left figure is for period

 2009-2019 and the right one for period 2020-2021

#### 5.5.2 **Results of Impulse Response Functions**

Since the IRF results are of great importance in my research, I will write an explanation for each graph and a comparison for understanding the effect of the Covid-19 Pandemic.

#### 5.5.2.1 NEX Index – Crude Oil Prices Model

In the first period, a shock in Oil Price has a limited positive significant effect on the NEX index, but in the period after the pandemic, its impact is negative and more substantial and lasts longer than the previous one.

Contrarily, a positive shock in NEX Index will significantly increase the Oil Price for a short period because the shock dies out quickly.



Figure 21: The IRF results for NEX Index - Crude Oil Price Model during the first period



Figure 22: The IRF results for NEX Index - Crude Oil Price Model during the second period

#### 5.5.2.2 Biofuel Index – Crude Oil Price Model

Using stationary data is not required in the VECM, so the shock of each variable has a lasting effect on the other one. A shock in Oil Price has an immediate negative impact on Biofuel; even though this effect by time will decrease at a low speed but still the long-term effect of an Oil Price shock is negative. On the contrary, a shock in Biofuel Index has a permanent positive impact on the oil prices.

In the second period, since we performed a VAR model, the structure of the graphs is different, and the same shocks have limited effects. Approximately a shock in Oil Price will not affect the Biofuel Index; on the other hand, a positive shock in the biofuel index has a minor positive effect on the oil prices, which diminishes immediately.





Figure 24: The IRF results for Biofuel Index - Crude Oil Price Model during the second period

### 5.5.2.3 Solar Index – Crude Oil Price Model

In the first period, the effect of both variables on each other is almost similar. A positive shock in one of them has a small positive impact on the other one, which quickly dies.

However, in the second period, a positive shock in Oil Price has a permanently negative effect on Solar Index. This effect stays constant for a short period and after that decreases gradually, but the long-term effect is still negative. On the other hand, a positive shock in Solar Index has a positive effect on Oil Price and increases it for a long time.





Figure 25: The IRF results for Solar Index - Crude Oil Price Model during the first period

### 5.5.2.4 Wind Index – Crude Oil Price Model

A shock in Oil Price has an insignificant positive effect on Wind Index in the first period and a negligible negative impact in the second period. From these results, I conclude that shocks in Oil Price will not cause any movement in Wind Index.

However, a shock in Wind Index in both periods increases the Oil Price for a short time, yet this effect is significant according to the IRF.



Figure 28: The IRF results for Wind Index - Crude Oil Price Model during the second period

# 6) Discussion & Conclusion

### 6.1 Discussion

In this section, I will provide empirical evidence for my economic statistical analysis, even though it is very common that the statistical results are not explained by economic phenomena.

Based on the statistical analysis, it can be concluded that oil price shocks have a significant effect only on the Biofuel Index. This behaviour can be explained by how these assets are connected and the macroeconomic factors that affect especially the renewable energy sub-sectors.

The independency of NEX, Wind, and Solar indices from oil price fluctuations may be caused by the fact that the investment in renewable energies has increased a lot in recent years. The large investment and development of the technology have reduced energy production costs from renewable resources. Therefore, renewables can compete successfully with crude oil, even when the oil price is low. On the other hand, since the main product of Solar and Wind energies is electricity and their share of production has increased in recent years (29% of global electricity production), and the fact that oil is not one of the primary sources of electricity generation, it could be expected that oil price shocks don't affect these assets significantly. However, that small influence can be explained by the effects of oil price on the two primary non-renewable sources of electricity generation, which are coal and gas. Thus, the nonsignificant influence of oil is because of its indirect effect on electricity production. Also, crude oil can compete with electricity in the transportation sector (0.3% of transportation fuel is from renewable electricity). However, since electric cars are more expensive than combustion engine cars and the amount of transportation fuel from electricity energy is not high, they can still not be considered a substitution for each other. It is probable that in the near future, according to the development of technology, the share of electric cars will increase and compete with fossil fuel-based cars.

Furthermore, developing countries, especially China and India, experienced rapid economic growth, which caused a rise in energy demand, but under different global pressures for environmental pollution reduction, simultaneously they have developed their renewable energy industry.

The surprising result from my statistical model is the positive influence of the NEX, SOLRX, and GWE indices shocks on the oil price. This result was unexpected since the share

of crude oil in global energy production is much more than renewables, and it is unlikely that their fluctuation can affect the crude oil prices. The cause of this result can be the requirement of fossil energies to develop the technology and equipment in the renewable energy sector. It implies that more investment and expansion of this sector can increase the oil demand and consequently its price for short time.



Figure 29: Annual share of different sources in Electricity Production (Source: BP Statistical Review of World Energy & Ember)



Figure 30: Planned share of Renewable Energies in future of Energy Production (Source: Global Renewables Outlook: Energy transformation 2050, IRENA 2020)

Cointegration between biofuel and crude oil can be clearly explained. Both of these assets exhibit the movement of the commodities which their main product is the transportation fuels. Also, indirectly they compete as sources of heating. Biofuels and fossil fuels are the main sources of transportation fuel production, the global share of Biofuels is 3.1%; therefore, a positive shock in crude oil prices, increases the incentives of using biofuel between people and from the other side pushes the governments to increase the subsides on biofuel which makes biofuel a stronger competitor for gasoline. In the opposite way, when biofuel prices increase, the demand for traditional fossil fuels increases, which can increase the price of crude oil. So, the long-run relationship between these assets exhibited from the model is totally in line with economic theories.



Figure 31: Global annual production of Biofuels (Source: International Energy Agency- IEA)



Figure 32: Global Bioenergy use for heating (Source: International Energy Agency- IEA)

Performing the statistical analysis on the data for a short time after the Covid-19 Pandemic makes the economic explanation of the results difficult. Looking at the results of the model, I understood that the pandemic has changed the relationships under consideration. The Global GDP growth was negatively affected by the pandemic, and a drastic decline in crude oil prices happened in this period; after a while, crude oil prices started to increase again. According to the huge economic loss during the pandemic, when the situation is going back to normal, the government and investors don't have the previous incentives for promoting the development of the renewable energy sectors. This behaviour which will last for a short time can explain the statistical results of my methods for the influence of crude oil prices on renewable energy sub-sectors. The only explanation for the vice versa effect can be the return of crude oil prices to the upward trend. In general, by using this data, I could reach the purpose of my research, understanding whether pandemic can affect the relationships under consideration or not. Nonetheless, it would be better to repeat these tests in the future with a broader range of data to understand the effect of crude oil prices properly.



### 6.2 Conclusion

In my thesis, I first tried to explore the relationship between crude oil prices and the renewable energy sub-sectors prices, and whether the influence of shock in crude oil prices is similar for all the sub-sectors. Furthermore, according to the importance of the recent financial crisis due to the Global Covid-19 Pandemic, I studied the changes caused by the pandemic on these relationships by using data in two periods that have covered a turbulent time in the world economy. To perform my analysis, I used two econometrics models, VAR and VECM models, and interpreted their results statistically and according to the economic theories.

My findings indicate that crude oil is a net receiver of shocks from renewable energy assets, and the opposite way interaction, on most of the occasions, reveals that the effect of crude oil prices shock on other assets or is either not significant or dies out soon.

In accordance with my first goal in this research, my conclusion will be based on my models in the first period. Therefore, I conclude that Alternative Energies, Solar and Wind Power indices exhibit the same response to a shock in crude oil prices. However, because its market structure is very similar to crude oil, the Biofuel index is cointegrated with crude oil prices. Thus, they have a long-term relationship, and their effects on each other last for a long time. Therefore, in general, crude oil prices have a different impact on the sub-sectors of Renewable Energy.

Comparing the results from my statistical models for two sample periods reveals that the Global Covid-19 Pandemic caused a change in the interaction of renewable energy assets and crude oil prices. As mentioned before, it is highly recommended to perform the analysis with more sample data to have a better insight into this change.

Even though the purpose of my thesis was to emphasize on the statistical results, for better understanding, I tried to explain them based on different financial theories and market movements.

By analysing the results of this thesis, not only policy-makers can design their policies to support the energy transition process by means of fiscal policy, but investors can improve their hedging strategies for maximizing the profits from their portfolios as well.

# References

Karacan, R., Mukhtarov, S., Barış, İ., İşleyen, A., & Yardımcı, M. E. (2021). The Impact of Oil Price on Transition toward Renewable Energy Consumption? Evidence from Russia. Energies, 14(10), 2947.

Tambari, I., & Failler, P. (2020). Determining If Oil Prices Significantly Affect Renewable Energy Investment in African Countries with Energy Security Concerns. Energies, 13(24), 6740.

Xia, T., Ji, Q., Zhang, D., & Han, J. (2019). *Asymmetric and extreme influence of energy price changes on renewable energy stock performance*. Journal of Cleaner Production, 241, 118338.

Hammoudeh, S., Mokni, K., Ben-Salha, O., & Ajmi, A. N. (2021). *Distributional predictability between oil prices and renewable energy stocks: Is there a role for the COVID-19 pandemic?* Energy Economics, 103, 105512.

Alkathery, M. A., & Chaudhuri, K. (2021). *Co-movement between oil price, CO2 emission, renewable energy and energy equities: Evidence from GCC countries*. Journal of Environmental Management, 297, 113350.

Maghyereh, A. I., Awartani, B., & Abdoh, H. (2019). *The co-movement between oil and clean energy stocks: A wavelet-based analysis of horizon associations*. Energy, 169, 895-913.

Maghyereh, A., & Abdoh, H. (2021). *The impact of extreme structural oil-price shocks* on clean energy and oil stocks. Energy, 225, 120209.

Niu, H. (2021). Correlations between crude oil and stocks prices of renewable energy and technology companies: A multiscale time-dependent analysis. Energy, 221, 119800.

Raggad, B. (2021). *Time varying causal relationship between renewable energy consumption, oil prices and economic activity: new evidence from the United States.* Resources Policy, 74, 102422.

How the Oil Market Prices Work-A Brief Explanation. Lipow Oil Associates, LLC.

World Energy Trilemma Index, 2019. World Energy Council.

Global Wind Report, 2021. Global Wind Energy Council.

Global Bioenergy Statistics, 2020. World Bioenergy Association

Thome, H. (2014). *Cointegration and error correction modelling in time-series analysis: a brief Introduction*. International Journal of Conflict and Violence (IJCV), 8(2), 199-208.

Pickl, M. J. (2019). *The renewable energy strategies of oil majors–From oil to energy?* Energy Strategy Reviews, 26, 100370.

Song, Y., Ji, Q., Du, Y. J., & Geng, J. B. (2019). The dynamic dependence of fossil energy, investor sentiment and renewable energy stock markets. Energy Economics, 84, 104564.

DENİZ, P. (2017). *Oil prices and renewable energy: oil dependent countries*. Journal of Research in Economics, 3(2), 139-152.

Kyritsis, E., & Serletis, A. (2019). *Oil prices and the renewable energy sector*. The Energy Journal, 40(The New Era of Energy Transition).

Heal, G., & Hallmeyer, K. (2015). *How lower oil prices impact the competitiveness of oil with renewable fuels*. Center on Global Energy Policy, Columbia, SIPA: New York, NY, USA, 1-18.

Shah, I. H., Hiles, C., & Morley, B. (2018). *How do oil prices, macroeconomic factors and policies affect the market for renewable energy?* Applied energy, 215, 87-97.

Kocaarslan, B., & Soytas, U. (2019). Dynamic correlations between oil prices and the stock prices of clean energy and technology firms: The role of reserve currency (US dollar). Energy Economics, 84, 104502.

Pham, L. (2019). *Do all clean energy stocks respond homogeneously to oil price?* Energy Economics, 81, 355-379.

Dominioni, G., Romano, A., & Sotis, C. (2019). *A quantitative study of the interactions between oil price and renewable energy sources stock prices*. Energies, 12(9), 1693.

Ardour Global. (2021). Ardour Global Solar Eenergy Index. Ardour Global.

Ardour Global Alternative Energy Indexes. (2021). Historical Perfomance Data.

Biofuels, O. o. (2021). Biofuels FAQ. New South Wales

Brooks, C. (2008). *Introductory Econometrics Finance*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Aas, K. (2004). *To log or not to log: The distribution of asset returns*. Norwegian Computing Center: Applied research and development.

Adkins, L. (2013, January). *Estimating a VAR*. Retrieved June 5, 2013, from learneconometrics.com:

http://www.learneconometrics.com/class/5263/notes/Estimating%20a%20VAR.pdf

Adkins, L. (2013, January). *Impulse responses and variance decompositions*. Retrieved June 9, 2013, from learneconometrics.com:

http://www.learneconometrics.com/class/5263/notes/Impulse%20responses%20and %20variance%20decompositions.pdf

Baum, C. F. (2013). VAR, SVAR ans VECM models. Boston College.

Bloomberg. (2012, November 26). Brent Poised to Depose WTI as Most-Traded Oil Futures. Retrieved February 27, 2013, from Bloomberg: http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2012-11-26/brent-poised-to-oust-wti-as-mosttraded-oilfutures.html

Brandner, P., & Kunst, R. M. (1990). Forecasting Vector Autoregressions - The Influence of Cointegration

Cízek, P., Härdle, W., & Weron, R. (2005). Regression Models for Time Series.RetrievedApril23,2013,from

http://sfb649.wiwi.huberlin.de/fedc\_homepage/xplore/tutorials/xegbohtmlnode40.html

Culverhouse College of Commerce. (2013, January). *Chapter 5: Vector Autoregression Analysis*. Retrieved May 15, 2013, from:

http://old.cba.ua.edu/assets/docs/jlee/forecasting/rats\_handbook\_5a.pdf

Enders, W. (2005). Applied Econometric time series. John Wiley & Sons, INC.

Granger, C., & Newbold, P. (1974). Spurious Regressions in Econemetrics. *Journal of Econometrics*, 111-120.

Hamilton, J. D. (1994). Time Series Analysis. Princeton University Press.

Harris, R., & Sollis, R. (2003). *Applied Time Series Modelliing and Forecasting*. John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

Henriques, I., & Sadorsky, P. (2007). *Oil prices and the stock prices of alternative energy companies*. Schulich School of Business.

Huang, A. Y., Cheng, C.-M., Chen, C.-C., & Hu, W.-C. (2010). *Oil Prices and Stock Prices of Alternative Energy Companies: Time Varying Relationship with Recent Evidence.* 

Iacoviello, M. (2011, January). *Chapter 1: Vector autoregressions*. Retrieved May 27, 2013, from Boston College: https://www2.bc.edu/~iacoviel/teach/0809/EC751\_files/var.pdf

Ivanov, V., & Kilian, L. (2005, March 14). A Practitioner's Guide to Lag Order Selection for VAR Impulse Response Analysis. *Studies in Nonlinear Dynamics & Econometrics*, pp. -.

Johansen, S. (1988, January). Statistical Analysis of Cointegrated Vectors. *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, pp. 231-254.

Johansen, S. (1995). Likelihood-Based Inference in Cointegrated Vector Auto Regressive Models. Oxford University Press. OECD. (2004). Oil price developments: Drivers, Economic consequences and policy responses. OECD Economic Outlook No. 76.

Richards, R. (2005, April). *Unit Root Tests*. Retrieved February 7, 2103, from University of Washington: http://faculty.washington.edu/ezivot/econ584/notes/unitroot.pdf

Schmitz, A. (2009). *Effect of Oil Prices on Returns to Alternative Energy Investments*. Georgia Institute of Technology.

Stock, J. H., & Watson, M. M. (2012). *Introduction to Econemetrics*. Pearson Education Limited.

Trück, S., & Inchauspe, J. (2008). *Oil price dynamics and returns on renewable energy companies: A state space apprach.* 

United Nations. (1995). *Kyoto Protocol to The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change*. United Nations.

Verbeek, M. (2004). A guide to modern Econometrics. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Wilder Hill New Energy Finance, LLC. (n.d.). *Wilderhill New Energy Global Innovation Index (NEX)*. Wilder Hill New Energy Finance, LLC.

Pedace, R. (2013) Econometrics for dummies. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Frey, G., Manera, M., Markandya, A., & Scarpa, E. (2009). *Econometric models for oil price forecasting: A critical survey*. In *CESifo Forum* (Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 29-44). München: ifo Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung an der Universität München.

I Gusti Ngurah Agung, (2009). *Time series data analysis using EViews*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Terence C. Mills (1999). *The Econometric Modelling of Financial Time Series*. Cambridge University Press.

Pesaran, M. H (2015), *Time Series and Panel Data Econometrics*. Oxford University Press.

Kirchgässner, G (2007). Introduction to Modern Time Series Analysis. Springers.

Hamilton, J (1994). Time Series Analysis. Princeton University Press.

Cologni, A., & Manera, M. (2008). *Oil prices, inflation and interest rates in a structural cointegrated VAR model for the G-7 countries.* Energy economics, 30(3), 856-888.

Mukhtarov, S., Mikayilov, J. I., Humbatova, S., & Muradov, V. (2020). Do High Oil Prices Obstruct the Transition to Renewable Energy Consumption? Sustainability, 12(11), 4689.

Ogutcu, Can (2017). A Comparative Analysis of Renewable Energy Prices in the EU and Oil Prices from 2006 – 2014

Renewables 2020, International Energy Agency.

https://www.investing.com/commodities/brent-oil-historical-data

https://www.investing.com/commodities/crude-oil-historical-data

https://www.cmegroup.com/markets/energy/crude-oil/light-sweet

#### crude.quotes.options.html#optionProductId=7503

https://www.marketwatch.com/investing/future/cl.1/download-

data?startDate=7/17/2021&endDate=08/16/2021

https://nexindex.com/about\_nex.php

https://etfdb.com/index/wilderhill-new-energy-global-innovation-index/

https://www.solactive.com/Indices/?index=US96811Y1029

https://finance.yahoo.com/quote/%5ENEX/history?period1=978048000&period2=16

29158400&interval=1mo&filter=history&frequency=1mo&includeAdjustedClose=true

https://www.spglobal.com/spdji/en/indices/commodities/sp-gsci-biofuel/#overview

https://www.marketwatch.com/investing/index/spgsbf/charts?countrycode=xx&mod=

mw\_quote\_tab

https://www.barchart.com/etfs-funds/quotes/PBW/overview

https://www.bloomberg.com/markets/stocks

https://snetworkglobalindexes.com/indexes/ardour-global-alternative-energy-

index/data/indexdata

 $\underline{https://snetworkglobalindexes.com/indexes/ardour-global-alternative-energy-index}$ 

https://www.marketwatch.com/investing/index/spgsbf/download-

data?startDate=7/16/2010&endDate=08/16/2021&countryCode=xx

https://www.spglobal.com/spdji/en/indices/commodities/sp-gsci-biofuel/#overview

https://uk.investing.com/indices/ise-global-wind-energy-tr-historical-data

https://www.investing.com/indices/ardour-solar-energy-historical-data

https://www.marketwatch.com/investing/index/gwexxxx/download-

data?startDate=1/1/2009&endDate=09/08/2021&countryCode=xx

# Appendix

# **Appendix 1: Lag Length Detection**

# **First Period:**

Endogeno Exogenou Date: 11/ Sample: 2	VAR Lag Order Selection Criteria Endogenous variables: NEXINDEX OILPRICE Exogenous variables: C Date: 11/12/21 Time: 11:55 Sample: 2009M01 2019M12 Included observations: 124										
Lag	LogL	LR	FPE	AIC	SC	HQ					
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	0.182966 317.8519 320.4663 320.9882 327.1360 329.1651 329.8738 331.1513 331.9831	NA 619.9667 5.018111 0.984869 11.40318* 3.698244 1.268625 2.245979 1.435560	2.43e-05 2.34e-05 2.42e-05 2.55e-05	-5.007521 -4.951423 -4.986065 -4.954277 -4.901190 -4.857279	4.633004 4.576669 4.453904 4.309840 4.174953	4.915129 4.822074 4.819759 4.751014 4.660970 4.580102					
LR: sequ FPE: Fin AIC: Aka SC: Schv	8 331.9831 1.435560 2.81e-05 4.806179 4.032876 4.492045 * indicates lag order selected by the criterion LR: sequential modified LR test statistic (each test at 5% level) FPE: Final prediction error AIC: Akaike information criterion SC: Schwarz information criterion HQ: Hannan-Quinn information criterion										

Table 22: Lag Length of NEX Index - Crude Oil Prices Model

Endogeno Exogenou Date: 11/1 Sample: 2	Order Selecti ous variables: us variables: ( 12/21 Time: 2009M01 201 observations:	BIOFUELIN C 11:55 9M12	DEX OILPR	ICE		
Lag	LogL	LR	FPE	AIC	SC	HQ
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	11.65617 319.6149 328.0698 329.4341 330.7826 331.9951 332.2824 335.0098 335.9637	2.209816 0.514466	2.18e-05 2.03e-05 2.12e-05 2.21e-05 2.31e-05 2.46e-05	-0.155745 -5.058305 -5.130158" -5.087647 -5.044880 -4.999920 -4.940039 -4.919512 -4.870382	4.921839" 4.902716 4.769228 4.635485 4.499548 4.348690 4.237186	-5.002869 -5.037765" -4.958298 -4.878574 -4.796657 -4.699819 -4.642335
LR: sequ FPE: Fin: AIC: Akai SC: Schv	es lag order se ential modifie al prediction e ike informatio varz informati nan-Quinn inf	d LR test sta error n criterion on criterion	tistic (each t	est at 5% lev	vel)	

Table 23: Lag Length of Biofuel Index - Crude Oil Prices Model

Endogen Exogeno Date: 11/ Sample: 3	Order Selecti ous variables: us variables: ( 12/21 Time: 2009M01 201 observations:	: SOLARIND C 11:56 9M12	EX OILPRIC	E		
Lag	LogL	LR	FPE	AIC	SC	HQ
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	-133.0979 233.2589 235.1751 236.3590 238.6844 239.6747 240.7665 241.6685 243.6231	3.677957 2.234195 4.313172 1.804828 1.954811	9.07e-05 9.50e-05 9.76e-05 0.000102 0.000107	2.178998 -3.665465" -3.631857 -3.586436 -3.559426 -3.510882 -3.463976 -3.414008 -3.381017	-3.404414 -3.268017 -3.150030 -3.010509 -2.872627 -2.731682	-3.539464 -3.457087 -3.393120 -3.307619 -3.223756 -3.136831
LR: sequ FPE: Fin AIC: Aka SC: Sch	es lag order s uential modifie ial prediction ( ilke informatio warz informati inan-Quinn information	ed LR test sta error on criterion ion criterion	itistic (each t	est at 5% lev	vel)	

Table 24:Lag Length of Solar Index - Crude Oil Prices Model

Endogen Exogeno Date: 11/ Sample: 3	Order Selecti ous variables: us variables: ( 12/21 Time: 2009M01 201 observations:	WINDINDE3 C 11:56 9M12	X OILPRICE			
Lag	LogL	LR	FPE	AIC	SC	HQ
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	-13.27520 327.1182 329.6184 330.5177 336.8803 338.6372 339.3970 339.8946 341.8851	1.360244	2.00e-05	-5.155135 -5.105124 -5.143230 -5.107052 -5.054790 -4.998301	-4.606679 -4.463441	4.975774 4.976924 4.903789 4.814570 4.721124
LR: sequ FPE: Fin AIC: Aka SC: Sch	es lag order so uential modifie ual prediction ( aike information warz information warz Quinn information	d LR test sta error n criterion on criterion	tistic (each t	test at 5% lev	vel)	

HQ: Hannan-Quinn information criterion

Table 25: Lag Length of Wind Index - Crude Oil Prices Model

## **Second Period**

Lag	LogL	LR	FPE	AIC	SC	HQ
0	8.072917	NA		-0.867560		
1		47.47763* 2.175954				

Table 26: Lag Length of NEX Index - Crude Oil Prices Model, Second Period

Lag	LogL	LR	FPE	AIC	SC	HQ
0		NA		-2.526808		
2		34.90613* 1.697478				

Table 27: Lag Length of Biofuel Index - Crude Oil Prices Model, Second Period

Lag	LogL	LR	FPE	AIC	SC	HQ
0		NA		-0.496854		
1		47.72390*		-4.263962* -3.817460		

Table 28: Lag Length of Solar Index - Crude Oil Prices Model, Second Period

Lag	LogL	LR	FPE	AIC	SC	HQ
0		NA		-2.171090		
2		37.89070* 2.349652				

Table 29: Lag Length of Wind Index - Crude Oil Prices Model, Second Period

# **Appendix 2: Cointegration Test Result**

# **First Period**

Date: 11/12/21 Sample (adjuster Included observa Trend assumption Series: NEXIND Lags interval (in	d): 2009M03 20 ations: 130 after n: No determini EX OILPRICE	r adjustments istic trend (restric	cted constant)	
Unrestricted Coi	ntegration Rank	Test (Trace)		
Hypothesized No. of CE(s)	Eigenvalue	Trace Statistic	0.05 Critical Value	Prob.**
None At most 1	0.077206 0.011409	11.93712 1.491651	20.26184 9.164546	0.4544 0.8749
	ion of the hypot aug-Michelis (19		level	
Hypothesized No. of CE(s)	Eigenvalue	Max-Eigen Statistic	0.05 Critical Value	Prob.**
None At most 1	0.077206 0.011409	10.44547 1.491651	15.89210 9.164546	0.2955 0.8749
* denotes reject **MacKinnon-Ha	ion of the hypot aug-Michelis (19			I):
NEXINDEX -4.048949 3.685156	OILPRICE -2.401940 -2.079652	C 31.43500 -10.24418		
Unrestricted Adj	ustment Coeffic	cients (alpha):		
D(NEXINDEX) D(OILPRICE)	0.018392 0.013930	-0.001341 0.006755		
1 Cointegrating	Equation(s):	Log likelihood	329.9605	
Normalized coint NEXINDEX 1.000000	tegrating coeffic OILPRICE 0.593226 (0.23999)	c c -7.763744 (1.02927)	error in parenthes	ies)
Adjustment coeff D(NEXINDEX) D(OILPRICE)	ficients (standar -0.074468 (0.02329) -0.056403 (0.02856)	rd error in parent	heses)	

Table 30: Johansen's Test for NEX Index - Crude Oil Prices Model

Date: 11/12/21 Sample (adjusted Included observa Trend assumptio Series: BIOFUEL Lags interval (in f	d): 2009M03 20 Itions: 130 after n: No determin INDEX OILPR first differences	r adjustments istic trend ICE ;): 1 to 1		
Hypothesized No. of CE(s)	Eigenvalue	Trace Statistic	0.05 Critical Value	Prob.**
None * At most 1	0.105467 1.98E-05	14.49152 0.002579	12.32090 4.129906	0.0213 0.9653
Trace test indica ' denotes rejecti ''MacKinnon-Ha Unrestricted Coir	on of the hypot aug-Michelis (19	hesis at the 0.05 999) p-values	level	
Hypothesized No. of CE(s)	Eigenvalue	Max-Eigen Statistic	0.05 Critical Value	Prob.**
None * At most 1	0.105467 1.98E-05	14.48894 0.002579	11.22480 4.129906	0.0129 0.9653
* denotes rejecti *'MacKinnon-Ha	on of the hypot aug-Michelis (19	hesis at the 0.05 999) p-values	qn(s) at the 0.05 l ilevel ized by b"S11"b=	
BIOFUELIND -4.006206 -0.147100	OILPRICE 4.552582 0.400612			
Unrestricted Adj	ustment Coeffic	cients (alpha):		
D(BIOFUELIN D(OILPRICE)	-0.003286 -0.025767	-0.000262 -4.21E-05		
1 Cointegrating E	Equation(s):	Log likelihood	338.5857	
Normalized coint BIOFUELIND 1.000000	egrating coeffic OILPRICE -1.136382 (0.01505)	cients (standard	error in parenthes	ies)
Adjustment coeff D(BIOFUELIN D(OILPRICE)	icients (standar 0.013166 (0.02121) 0.103226 (0.02689)	rd error in parent	theses)	

Table 31: Johansen's Test for Biofuel Index - Crude Oil Prices Model

Included observa Trend assumption Series: SOLARII Lags interval (in	n: No determin NDEX OILPRIC	r adjustments istic trend (restri E	cted constant)				
Unrestricted Coi Hypothesized	ntegration Rank	Test (Trace)	0.05				
No. of CE(s)	Eigenvalue	Statistic	Critical Value	Prob.**			
None At most 1	0.047123 0.028092	9.979320 3.704291	20.26184 9.164546	0.6419 0.4579			
	ion of the hypot aug-Michelis (19		ilevel				
Hypothesized No. of CE(s)	Eigenvalue	Max-Eigen Statistic	0.05 Critical Value	Prob.**			
None At most 1	0.047123 0.028092	6.275029 3.704291	15.89210 9.164546	0.7565 0.4579			
Max-eigenvalue test indicates no cointegration at the 0.05 level * denotes rejection of the hypothesis at the 0.05 level **MacKinnon-Haug-Michelis (1999) p-values Unrestricted Cointegrating Coefficients (normalized by b"S11"b=I):							
	aug-Michelis (1	999) p-values		I):			
	aug-Michelis (1	999) p-values		I):			
Unrestricted Co SOLARINDEX 1.165523	aug-Michelis (11 integrating Coe OILPRICE -2.841113 1.716702	999) p-values fficients (normali C 4.857219 -12.91470		I <u>):</u>			
Unrestricted Co SOLARINDEX 1.165523 0.928121	aug-Michelis (11 integrating Coe OILPRICE -2.841113 1.716702	999) p-values fficients (normali C 4.857219 -12.91470		I):			
Unrestricted Co SOLARINDEX 1.165523 0.928121 Unrestricted Ad D(SOLARIND	aug-Michelis (1) integrating Coe OILPRICE -2.841113 1.716702 justment Coeffi 0.000266 0.016846	999) p-values fficients (normali C 4.857219 -12.91470 cients (alpha): -0.020388	ized by b"S11"b=	I): 			
Unrestricted Co SOLARINDEX 1.165523 0.928121 Unrestricted Ad D(SOLARIND D(OILPRICE) 1 Cointegrating	aug-Michelis (1) integrating Coe OILPRICE -2.841113 1.716702 justment Coeffi 0.000266 0.016646 Equation(s): tegrating coeffic	999) p-values fficients (normal C 4.857219 -12.91470 cients (alpha): -0.020388 -0.004248 Log likelihood	ized by b"S11"b=				

Table 32: Johansen's Test for Solar Index - Crude Oil Prices Model

#### Johansen Cointegration Test

Date: 11/12/21 Sample (adjusted Included observa Trend assumptio Series: WINDINE Lags interval (in f	i): 2009M03 20 tions: 130 after n: No determin DEX OILPRICE	r adjustments istic trend (restri	cted constant)	
Unrestricted Coir	tegration Rank	Test (Trace)		
Hypothesized No. of CE(s)	Eigenvalue	Trace Statistic	0.05 Critical Value	Prob.**
None At most 1	0.110406 0.006251	16.02391 0.815133	20.26184 9.164546	0.1733 0.9725
Trace test indica ' denotes rejecti ''MacKinnon-Ha Unrestricted Coir	on of the hypot ug-Michelis (19	hesis at the 0.05 999) p-values	ilevel	
Hypothesized No. of CE(s)	Eigenvalue	Max-Eigen Statistic	0.05 Critical Value	Prob.**
None At most 1	0.110406 0.006251	15.20878 0.815133	15.89210 9.164546	0.0637 0.9725
Max-eigenvalue * denotes rejecti *'MacKinnon-Ha Unrestricted Coi	on of the hypot ug-Michelis (1	hesis at the 0.05 999) p-values		1):
WINDINDEX -3.838171 2.701424	OILPRICE -3.386017 -1.495623	C 33.33732 -6.990256		
Unrestricted Adj	ustment Coeffi	cients (alpha):		
D(WINDINDEX) D(OILPRICE)	0.020466 0.015991	-0.000991 0.005098		
1 Cointegrating E	quation(s):	Log likelihood	339.0088	
Normalized coint WINDINDEX 1.000000	egrating coeffic OILPRICE 0.882195 (0.20926)	С	error in parenthes	ies)
Adjustment coeff D(WINDINDEX) D(OILPRICE)		rd error in paren	theses)	

Table 33: Johansen's Test for Wind Index - Crude Oil Prices Model

# **Second Period**

Date: 11/12/21 Sample (adjuste Included observa Trend assumptio Series: LOGNE2 Lags interval (in	d): 2020M08 20 ations: 14 after n: Linear deter ( LOGOIL	adjustments ministic trend (re	stricted)	
Unrestricted Coi	ntegration Ran	k Test (Trace)		
Hypothesized No. of CE(s)	Eigenvalue	Trace Statistic	0.05 Critical Value	Prob.**
None At most 1	0.709403 0.412706	24.75267 7.451223	25.87211 12.51798	0.0684 0.2998
* denotes reject **MacKinnon-Ha	ion of the hypo aug-Michelis (1	ration at the 0.05 thesis at the 0.05 999) p-values k Test (Maximum	level	
Hypothesized No. of CE(s)	Eigenvalue	Max-Eigen Statistic	0.05 Critical Value	Prob.**
None At most 1	0.709403 0.412706	17.30144 7.451223	19.38704 12.51798	0.0979 0.2998
* denotes reject **MacKinnon-Ha Unrestricted Co	ion of the hypo aug-Michelis (1 integrating Coe	fficients (normali	level zed by b"S11"b=	I):
LOGNEX 6.057987 -3.376287	LOGOIL 13.73436 12.85501	@TREND(20M0 -0.655570 -0.591865	17)	
Unrestricted Adj	ustment Coeffi	cients (alpha):		
D(LOGNEX) D(LOGOIL)	-0.052286 0.001399	-0.016945 -0.056423		
1 Cointegrating E	Equation(s):	Log likelihood	41.77278	
Normalized coint LOGNEX 1.000000	tegrating coeffi LOGOIL 2.267150 (0.59877)	-0.108216		ies)
Adjustment coef D(LOGNEX) D(LOGOIL)	ficients (standa -0.316745 (0.08163) 0.008476 (0.16826)	rd error in parent	heses)	

Table 34: Johansen's Test for NEX Index - Crude Oil Prices Model, Second Period

Included observa Trend assumptio Series: LOGBIO Lags interval (in	n: Quadratic de LOGOIL	adjustments eterministic trend	I					
Unrestricted Coi	ntegration Ran	Test (Trace)						
Hypothesized No. of CE(s)	Eigenvalue	Trace Statistic	0.05 Critical Value	Prob.**				
None At most 1	0.533576 0.015391	10.89438 0.217143	18.39771 3.841465	0.3983 0.6412				
* denotes reject **MacKinnon-Ha	Trace test indicates no cointegration at the 0.05 level * denotes rejection of the hypothesis at the 0.05 level **MacKinnon-Haug-Michelis (1999) p-values Unrestricted Cointegration Rank Test (Maximum Eigenvalue)							
Hypothesized No. of CE(s)	Eigenvalue	Max-Eigen Statistic	0.05 Critical Value	Prob.**				
None At most 1	0.533576 0.015391	10.67724 0.217143	17.14769 3.841465	0.3378 0.6412				
Max-eigenvalue test indicates no cointegration at the 0.05 level * denotes rejection of the hypothesis at the 0.05 level **MacKinnon-Haug-Michelis (1999) p-values Unrestricted Cointegrating Coefficients (normalized by b*S11*b=I):								
"MacKinnon-Ha	aug-Michelis (1	999) p-values		I):				
"MacKinnon-Ha	aug-Michelis (1	999) p-values		I):				
"MacKinnon-Ha Unrestricted Co LOGBIO -15.20258	LOGOIL 15.39964 4.788429	999) p-values fficients (normali		I):				
**MacKinnon-Ha Unrestricted Co LOGBIO -15.20258 19.46187	LOGOIL 15.39964 4.788429	999) p-values fficients (normali		I):				
"MacKinnon-Ha Unrestricted Co LOGBIO -15.20258 19.46187 Unrestricted Adj D(LOGBIO)	aug-Michelis (1 integrating Coe LOGOIL 15.39964 4.788429 justment Coeffi -0.002096 -0.064095	999) p-values fficients (normali cients (alpha): -0.005559	zed by b"S11"b=	I): 				
**MacKinnon-Ha Unrestricted Co -15.20258 19.46187 Unrestricted Adj D(LOGBIO) D(LOGOIL) 1 Cointegrating B	aug-Michelis (1 integrating Coe LOGOIL 15.39964 4.788429 justment Coeffi -0.002096 -0.064095 Equation(s):	999) p-values fficients (normali cients (alpha): -0.005559 -0.001326 Log likelihood	zed by b"S11"b=					

Table 35: Johansen's Test for Biofuel Index - Crude Oil Prices Model, Second Period

Included observ	on: Linear deter	adjustments ministic trend (re	stricted)	
Unrestricted Co	integration Ran	k Test (Trace)		
Hypothesized No. of CE(s)	Eigenvalue	Trace Statistic	0.05 Critical Value	Prob.**
None * At most 1	0.777508 0.397209	28.12667 7.086597	25.87211 12.51798	0.0258 0.3356
* denotes reject **MacKinnon-H	tion of the hypo aug-Michelis (1	ating eqn(s) at th thesis at the 0.05 1999) p-values k Test (Maximum	5 level	
Hypothesized No. of CE(s)	Eigenvalue	Max-Eigen Statistic	0.05 Critical Value	Prob.**
· · · · ·				
None * At most 1	0.777508 0.397209	21.04008 7.086597	19.38704 12.51798	0.0286 0.3356
None * At most 1 Max-eigenvalue * denotes rejec **MacKinnon-H	0.397209 e test indicates tion of the hypo aug-Michelis (1	7.086597 1 cointegrating e thesis at the 0.05 1999) p-values	12.51798 qn(s) at the 0.05 l	0.3356 evel
None * At most 1 Max-eigenvalue * denotes reject **MacKinnon-H Unrestricted Co LOGSOLAR	0.397209 test indicates tion of the hypo aug-Michelis (1 integrating Cost LOGOIL	7.086597 1 cointegrating e thesis at the 0.05 1999) p-values efficients (normal @TREND(20M	12.51798 qn(s) at the 0.05 l 5 level ized by b"\$11"b=	0.3356 evel
None * At most 1 Max-eigenvalue * denotes rejec **MacKinnon-H Unrestricted Co	0.397209 e test indicates tion of the hypo aug-Michelis (1 integrating Cos	7.086597 1 cointegrating e thesis at the 0.05 (999) p-values efficients (normal	12.51798 qn(s) at the 0.05 l 5 level ized by b"\$11"b=	0.3356 evel
None * At most 1 Max-eigenvalue * denotes rejec **MacKinnon-H Unrestricted Co LOGSOLAR 5.605038	0.397209 e test indicates tion of the hypo aug-Michelis (1 integrating Coe LOGOIL 14.27734 12.73694	7.086597 1 cointegrating e thesis at the 0.05 1999) p-values efficients (normal @TREND(20M -0.757125 -0.594158	12.51798 qn(s) at the 0.05 l 5 level ized by b"\$11"b=	0.3356 evel
None * At most 1 Max-eigenvalue * denotes reject **MacKinnon-H Unrestricted Co LOGSOLAR 5.605038 -1.761632	0.307209 test indicates tion of the hypo aug-Michelis (1 integrating Cos LOGOIL 14.27734 12.73694	7.086597 1 cointegrating e thesis at the 0.05 1999) p-values efficients (normal @TREND(20M -0.757125 -0.594158	12.51798 qn(s) at the 0.05 l 5 level ized by b"\$11"b=	0.3356 evel
None * At most 1 Max-eigenvalue * denotes reject **MacKinnon-H Unrestricted Co LOGSOLAR 5.605038 -1.761632 Unrestricted Ad D(LOGSOLAR)	0.397209 e test indicates tion of the hypo aug-Michelis (1 integrating Coe LOGOIL 14.27734 12.73694 justment Coeff -0.068689 0.002380	7.086597 1 cointegrating e thesis at the 0.05 1999) p-values efficients (normal @TREND(20M -0.757125 -0.594158 icients (alpha): -0.000343	12.51798 qn(s) at the 0.05 l 5 level ized by b"*S11*b= 07)	0.3356 evel
None * At most 1 Max-eigenvalue * denotes reject **MacKinnon-H Unrestricted Co LOGSOLAR 5.605038 -1.761632 Unrestricted Ad D(LOGSOLAR) D(LOGSOLAR) D(LOGSOLAR) D(LOGSOLAR) D(LOGSOLAR)	0.397209 test indicates tion of the hypo aug-Michelis (1 integrating Cost LOGOIL 14.27734 12.73694 justment Coeff -0.068689 0.002380 Equation(s): tegrating coeff	7.086597 1 cointegrating e thesis at the 0.05 1999) p-values efficients (normal @TREND(20M -0.757125 -0.594158 icients (alpha): -0.000343 -0.056056 Log likelihood icients (standard @TREND(20M -0.135079	12.51798 gn(s) at the 0.05 I b level ized by b"\$11"b= 07) 40.39606 error in parenthes	0.3356  evel  1):

Table 36: Johansen's Test for Solar Index - Crude Oil Prices Model, Second Period

Date: 11/02/21 Sample (adjuster Included observa Trend assumptio Series: LOGWIN Lags interval (in t	d): 2020M08 20 ations: 14 after ; n: Linear deten D LOGOIL	adjustments ministic trend						
Unrestricted Cointegration Rank Test (Trace)								
Hypothesized No. of CE(s)	Eigenvalue	Trace Statistic	0.05 Critical Value	Prob.**				
None At most 1	0.503129 0.157384	12.18936 2.397415	15.49471 3.841465	0.1481 0.1215				
* denotes rejecti **MacKinnon-Ha	Trace test indicates no cointegration at the 0.05 level * denotes rejection of the hypothesis at the 0.05 level **MacKinnon-Haug-Michelis (1999) p-values Unrestricted Cointegration Rank Test (Maximum Eigenvalue)							
Hypothesized No. of CE(s)	Eigenvalue	Max-Eigen Statistic	0.05 Critical Value	Prob.**				
None At most 1	0.503129 0.157384	9.791943 2.397415	14.26460 3.841465	0.2259 0.1215				
Max-eigenvalue test indicates no cointegration at the 0.05 level * denotes rejection of the hypothesis at the 0.05 level **MacKinnon-Haug-Michelis (1999) p-values Unrestricted Cointegrating Coefficients (normalized by b"S11*b=I):								
LOGWIND -11.86180 5.625236	LOGOIL 1.636079 -6.787835							
Unrestricted Adjustment Coefficients (alpha):								
D(LOGWIND) D(LOGOIL)	0.019504 -0.046525	0.015957 0.021863						
1 Cointegrating E	Equation(s):	Log likelihood	41.93869					
Normalized cointegrating coefficients (standard error in parentheses) LOGWIND LOGOIL 1.000000 -0.137928 (0.14391)								
Adjustment coeff D(LOGWIND)	ficients (standar -0.231348 (0.16748)	rd error in parent	theses)					

Table 37: Johansen's Test for Wind Index - Crude Oil Prices Model, Second Period